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23.4 The Pick n Pay Retirement 
Scheme defi ned benefi t 
obligations (continued)
Movement in the fund’s 
obligations and plan assets 
recognised on the balance 
sheet is as follows:
Change in liability
Liability – 1 March 187.3 495.3 145.5 22.3 850.4 736.8
 Service cost 32.8 22.4 1.7 5.8 62.7 64.6
 Interest cost 17.5 43.3 12.9 2.1 75.8 72.8
 Actuarial (gain)/loss (2.2) 22.1 37.6 0.4 57.9 57.6
 Benefi ts paid (18.5) (48.9) (6.3) (4.2) (77.9) (81.4)

Liability – 29 February 216.9 534.2 191.4 26.4 968.9 850.4

Change in plan assets
Plan assets – 1 March 187.3 401.3 110.5 31.8 730.9 527.8
 Expected return 17.2 35.0 11.9 2.9 67.0 53.5
 Actuarial gain 4.7 79.6 26.7 8.9 119.9 137.8
 Contributions by employer 26.2 24.4 48.6 6.2 105.4 93.2
 Benefi ts paid (18.5) (48.9) (6.3) (4.2) (77.9) (81.4)

Plan assets – 29 February 216.9 491.4 191.4 45.6 945.3 730.9

% % % % % %
Actuarial return on plan assets 11.7 28.6 34.9 37.2 35.6 36.2
Asset mix
 Equity 71.0 71.0 71.0 71.0 71.0 66.1
 Fixed interest 21.4 21.4 21.4 21.4 21.4 33.5
 Property 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 0.4

100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

The principal actuarial assumptions at the last valuation date are: 1 June 2007 1 June 2006
% per 

annum
% per

 annum

Discount rate 9.00 9.00
Future salary increases 6.32 6.36
Future pension increases 5.00 5.00
Annual increase in health care costs 8.30 7.33
Expected rate of return* 10.50 10.00
* The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined by assuming that the fi xed interest assets would earn a return equal to the discount rate 

of 9%, with a further 2% risk premium applied to the equities and property, giving a weighted average return of 10.5% based on the current asset 
allocation.

2008 2007
Defi ned Defi ned

contribution contribution
benefi ts benefi ts

Rm Rm

Current contributions 217.3 205.4

23. RETIREMENT BENEFITS Pensioners’ Retirement Post- GROUP

(continued) defi ned defi ned retirement Total Total

benefi t benefi t medical Benefi t obligation obligation

guarantee guarantee guarantee fund 2008 2007

Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
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GROUP

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

24. OPERATING LEASES

The Group has entered into various operating lease agreements in respect of 
premises. Leases on premises are contracted for periods of between 10 and 
20 years with renewal options for a further 10 to 20 years. Rentals comprise 
minimum monthly payments and additional payments based on turnover 
levels. Turnover rentals, where applicable, average 1.5% of turnover. Rental 
escalations vary but average 6.5% per annum.

In terms of IAS 17, operating leases with fi xed rental escalations are charged 
to the income statement on a straight-line basis. This results in the raising of a 
liability for future lease expenses and an asset for future lease income on the 
balance sheet. This liability and asset is reversed during the latter part of each 
lease term when the actual cash fl ow exceeds the income statement amounts.

Operating lease asset

At 1 March 5.9 4.8

 Accrual for future lease income 5.0 1.1

At 29 February 10.9 5.9

Operating lease liability

At 1 March 584.3 554.4

 Accrual for future lease expenditure 42.6 29.9

At 29 February 626.9 584.3

At 29 February future non-cancellable minimum lease rentals are payable 
during the following fi nancial years:

Cash fl ow due in 2009 772.2 690.8

Creation of lease liability 25.5 33.9

Income statement expense  797.7  724.7 

Cash fl ow due in 2010 – 2013 2 957.8 2 447.0

Reversal of lease liability (112.8) (77.2)

Income statement expense  2 845.0  2 369.8 

Cash fl ow due after 2013 3 529.2 3 134.9

Reversal of lease liability (539.6) (541.0)

Income statement expense  2 989.6  2 593.9 

Total operating lease commitments  6 632.3  5 688.4 

Comprising:

 Total future cash fl ows  7 259.2  6 272.7 

 Operating lease liability (626.9) (584.3)

At 29 February future minimum rentals receivable from non-cancellable 
sublease contracts amount to:

Total future cash fl ows 248.0 113.3

Operating lease asset (10.9) (5.9)

Total operating lease income receivable  237.1  107.4 
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GROUP COMPANY

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprise:

Leave pay obligations 265.1 220.5  —  — 

Trade and other creditors 5 944.1 5 384.9 1.8 2.1

6 209.2 5 605.4 1.8 2.1

26. COMMITMENTS

All capital expenditure will be funded 
from internal cash fl ow and through 
non-specifi c borrowing facilities 
obtained from various fi nancial 
institutions.

Authorised capital expenditure

 Contracted for

  Property 187.0 228.6

  Equipment and vehicles 224.8 32.2

  Intangible assets 36.3 39.7

 Not contracted for

  Property — 6.0

  Equipment and vehicles 835.7 868.3

Total commitments 1 283.8 1 174.8
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27. SEGMENTAL REPORT

GROUP

The Group is organised into two geographic segments, which is the basis on which primary segment information 
is reported.

The segments are as follows:

Southern African operations

Australian operations

Financial information pertaining to the geographic segments is as follows:

Southern Africa Australia Total

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

Segment revenue 42 110.8 36 527.2 5 355.7 4 600.9 47 466.5 41 128.1

Turnover 40 413.3 35 067.9 4 967.4 4 269.2 45 380.7 39 337.1

 – Australian dollars 820.8 807.2

Segment result

  Operating profi t/(loss)
 before interest 1 519.7 1 325.4 14.1* (46.4) 1 533.8 1 279.0

  – Australian dollars 2.3* (8.8)

Included in segment 
result:

  Depreciation and
 amortisation (471.1) (365.5) (77.1) (60.9) (548.2) (426.4)

 Share options expense (45.2) (29.2)  —  — (45.2) (29.2)

  Net accrual for future
 lease expenditure (37.6) (28.8)  —  — (37.6) (28.8)

Impairment of goodwill — (36.3) — — — (36.3)

Goodwill, included in
 total assets 137.1 137.1 720.4 577.2 857.5 714.3

Total assets, net of
 deferred tax 7 285.8 6 310.8 1 874.4 1 331.0 9 160.2 7 641.8

Total liabilities, net of tax 6 867.7 6 010.4 735.1 541.7 7 602.8 6 552.1

Capital expenditure 778.8 1 073.4 82.4 55.6 861.2 1 129.0

*Includes a profi t on sale of stores of R47.0 million (AUD7.9 million).

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between Group subsidiaries

During the year, in the ordinary course of business, certain companies within the Group entered into transactions with 
each other. These intra-group transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.

Directors

A number of directors of the Company hold positions in related entities where they may have signifi cant infl uence over 
the fi nancial or operating policies of those entities. The following are considered to be such entities:

Director Entity Position held in entity

Dennis Cope Pick n Pay Retirement Scheme Trustee

Pick n Pay Medical Scheme Trustee

René de Wet Pick n Pay Retirement Scheme Chairman

Pick n Pay Medical Scheme Chairman

Hugh Herman Investec Asset Management Limited Non-executive chairman

Investec Bank Limited Non-executive chairman

David Nurek Investec Bank Limited Senior executive

Trencor Limited Non-executive director
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Except for certain administrative costs carried by a subsidiary company on behalf of the Pick n Pay Retirement Scheme 
and the Pick n Pay Medical Scheme, transactions between the Group and these entities have occurred under terms and 
conditions that are no more favourable than those entered into with third parties in arm’s length transactions.

Related party transactions include:

i)  The Pick n Pay Retirement and Medical schemes administer the Company’s retirement and medical plans 
respectively.

ii)  Investec Bank Limited manages cash resources and assets on behalf of Group companies, the Pick n Pay Retirement 
Scheme and the Pick n Pay Medical Scheme.

iii)  Investec Asset Management Limited manages a portion of the Pick n Pay Retirement Scheme’s assets.

iv)  A subsidiary company participates in export partnerships with Trencor Limited group entities (note 14).

Certain non-executive directors of the Group are also non-executive directors of other public companies which may 
transact with the Group. Except as disclosed above, the relevant directors do not believe they have signifi cant infl uence 
over the fi nancial or operating policies of those companies. Those entities are not disclosed above.

Shares held by directors

The percentage shares held by directors of the Company at the balance sheet date is disclosed in the Directors’ Report 
on page 46. For further information refer to note 3.4.

Loans to executive directors

Loans to executive directors amount to R1.2 million at 29 February 2008, are secured and bear interest at varying 
interest rates. For further information refer to note 13.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are directors and those executives having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group. No key management personnel had a material interest in any 
contract of any signifi cance with any Group company during the year under review.

Key management personnel remuneration comprises:

GROUP

2008 
R’000

2007 
R’000

Directors’ fees 3 107.5 2 857.5

Remuneration for management services 18 164.2 17 592.6

Retirement and medical aid contributions 3 031.9 3 161.3

Performance bonus 4 855.0 15 900.0

Fringe and other benefi ts 1 419.5 6 919.2

30 578.1 46 430.6

Expense relating to share options granted 8 501.0 6 590.0

Total cost to company 39 079.1 53 020.6

The Company has the following related party transactions:

i)  Dividends received from subsidiary companies and paid to its holding company.

ii)  Interest received from a subsidiary company.

iii)  Loan advanced to a subsidiary company.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Overview

The Company and Pick n Pay Holdings Limited have no exposure to risk in respect of fi nancial instruments, as their 
only fi nancial asset is a loan to a subsidiary company. 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from its fi nancial instruments:

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these consolidated fi nancial statements.

The Group’s objective is to effectively manage each of the above risks associated with its fi nancial instruments, in 
order to limit the Group’s exposure as far as possible to any fi nancial loss associated with these risks.

The Board is ultimately responsible and accountable for ensuring that adequate procedures and processes are in 
place to identify, assess, manage and monitor key business risks. The Board has established the Audit, Risk and 
Compliance committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. 
The committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to refl ect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through 
its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to 
the risks faced by the Group. The committee is assisted in this regard by Group Audit Services (internal audit). Group 
Audit Services undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results 
of which are reported to the Audit, Risk and Compliance committee.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a fi nancial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations.

Financial assets, which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of trade 
receivables, investments, employee loans and participation in export partnerships.

The carrying amount of fi nancial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at 29 February was:

GROUP

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

Investments (note 11) 0.2 0.2

Loans (note 13) 120.7 108.8

Participation in export partnerships (note 14) 61.5 67.8

Trade receivables 1 170.7 870.8

Cash and cash equivalents 663.2 709.1

2 016.3 1 756.7

Investments

The Group has no material investments and therefore there is currently no signifi cant credit risk from these 
instruments.

Loans

Loans to employees are granted and managed in accordance with strict regulations laid down by the Human 
Resources Division, governing the size of the loan which may be granted and the associated interest rate and 
repayment terms. Before a loan is granted, it is fi rst established that the employee is able to afford the monthly 
repayment terms. Where appropriate, the Group obtains suitable forms of security when granting loans. Repayments 
are deducted directly from the employee’s monthly salary.

Participation in export partnerships

A company listed on the JSE Limited has warranted certain important cash fl ow aspects of the Group’s participation 
in export partnerships (refer to note 14). The Group’s directors have considered the credit risk relating to these 
aspects warranted and have satisfi ed themselves as to the creditworthiness of the warrantor company.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables, which are predominantly amounts owing by franchisees, are presented net of 
impairment losses. 

The Group obtains various forms of security from its franchise debtors, including bank guarantees, notarial bonds 
over inventory and moveable assets and suretyships from shareholders. The total credit risk with respect to 
receivables from franchise debtors is further limited as a result of the dispersion amongst the individual franchisees 
and across different geographic areas. Accordingly, the Group has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

GROUP

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

The ageing of trade receivables at 29 February was:
Trade receivables not impaired
 Within payment terms 935.6 714.1
 Exceeding payment terms by less than 14 days 216.0 132.0
 Exceeding payment terms by more than 14 days 1.5 0.7

1 153.1 846.8

Trade receivables with impairments
 Within payment terms 13.5 35.0
 Exceeding payment terms by less than 14 days 5.6 4.8
 Exceeding payment terms by more than 14 days 6.1 9.1

25.2 48.9

Total trade receivables 1 178.3 895.7
Allowance for impairment losses (7.6) (24.9)

Total trade receivables net of allowance for impairment 1 170.7 870.8
Prepayments and other short-term receivables 73.2 72.9

Total trade and other receivables 1 243.9 943.7

The movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables during 
the year was as follows:
At 1 March 24.9 23.8
 Irrecoverable debts written off (4.5) (1.6)
 Additional impairment losses recognised 6.2 4.1
 Prior allowances for impairment reversed (19.0) (1.4)

At 29 February 7.6 24.9

The Group makes allowance for specifi c trade debtors which have clearly indicated fi nancial diffi culty and the 
likelihood of repayment has become impaired. More than ninety percent of the balance relates to customers that 
have an excellent credit history with the Group.
Impairment losses are recorded in the allowance account until the Group is satisfi ed that no recovery of the amount 
owing is possible, at which point the amount is considered irrecoverable and is written off against the fi nancial asset 
directly.
There is currently no allowance for impairment against any other class of fi nancial asset.

Cash and cash equivalents
The Group’s cash is placed with major South African and international fi nancial institutions of high credit standing 
and within specifi c guidelines laid down by the Group’s Treasury committee and approved by the Board. The Treasury 
committee is appointed by the Board and comprises executive directors and senior executives. For this reason the 
Group does not consider there to be any signifi cant exposure to credit risk.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its fi nancial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have suffi cient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

One of the core founding principles of the Group is to maintain strong cash balances, not only to meet current 
fi nancial obligations, but in order to be able to buy forward on a rising market.

Adequate liquidity is further managed through the use of cash fl ow forecasts and by the maintenance of adequate 
borrowing facilities. In terms of its articles of association, the Company’s borrowing powers are unlimited. However, 
the Treasury committee maintains strict control over the acceptance and draw-down of any loan facility.

At 29 February the Group’s loan facilities comprised:

GROUP

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

 Total borrowing facilities granted by fi nancial institutions 4 096.2 3 581.2

 Total actual borrowings and utilisation of facilities (935.6) (298.1)

Unutilised borrowing facilities 3 160.6 3 283.1

On average trade receivables and inventory are realised within 30 days, and trade payables are settled within 
45 days. To the extent that the Group requires short-term funds, it utilises the banking facilities available.

For further information on the remaining maturities of the Group’s fi nancial liabilities, please refer to the table set 
out under “Interest rate risk” which analyses the interest rates underlying the Group’s various fi nancial assets and 
liabilities, and their terms to maturity. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 
will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of fi nancial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return on the risk.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk through the importation of merchandise. This risk is covered by 
entering into forward exchange contracts. These contracts are matched with anticipated future cash outfl ows in 
foreign currencies. The forward exchange contracts are taken out when an order is placed with a foreign supplier. 
The Group does not use forward foreign exchange contracts for speculative purposes, and does not apply cash fl ow 
hedge accounting.

The fair value of foreign exchange contracts at 29 February 2008 was R7.2 million.The adjustments to fair value have 
been recognised in the income statement.

A decrease or increase of up to 5% in the exchange rate between the Rand and the Dollar or the Euro would not 
have a material impact on the Group.

In relation to the participation in export partnerships, a fi xed rate of exchange was set for purposes of converting the 
foreign currency receipts in respect of the partnership’s sales into SA Rands. Any exchange differences are for the 
account of the managing partner of the partnerships and will have no impact on the earnings of the Group.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group manages the interest rate risk on long-term borrowings by fi xing the interest rate with the relevant 
fi nancial institution, wherever possible.

The effective rates on fi nancial instruments at 29 February 2008 are:

Maturity of interest-bearing assets/liabilities

Total
Rm

Weighted
average
interest

rate
%

1 year
or less

Rm

2 to 5
years

Rm

Over
5 years

Rm

Non-
interest-
bearing

Rm

Financial assets

 Cash and cash equivalents 8.7 663.2 663.2

 Trade receivables 1 170.7 1 170.7

 Participation in export partnerships 61.5 61.5

 Loans 3.3 12.5 50.1 58.1  120.7

 Investments 0.2 0.2

Total fi nancial assets 675.7 50.1 58.1 1 232.4 2 016.3

Financial liabilities

  Trade and other creditors (excluding
 leave pay obligations) 5 944.1 5 944.1

 Fixed-rate interest-bearing debt

 Bank loans 9.5 4.3 523.5 57.8   585.6

  Variable-rate interest-bearing debt

 Finance leases 12.3 32.1 100.0 132.1

Total fi nancial liabilities 36.4 623.5 57.8 5 944.1 6 661.8

At 29 February 2008, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points higher or lower, with all other variables 
held constant, profi ts would have decreased or increased by R1.3 million. A change in interest rates does not have a 
direct impact on equity.

At 29 February 2008 the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and trade and other 
payables approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities. Trade receivables and payables will mature 
within 30 to 60 days. The fair value of loans, investments and interest-bearing debt approximate their carrying value as 
disclosed on the balance sheet.

Participation in export partnerships – refer to note 14.

Market price risk

The Group currently has no investment in equity securities and therefore has no exposure to market price risk.

Capital management

The Board considers working capital management critical to the business, and in doing so, manages the balance 
between current assets and current liabilities.

One of the core principles of the Group is to maintain strong cash balances in order to buy forward on a rising market.

From time to time the Group purchases its own shares on the market, the timing of these purchases depends on 
market prices. All share purchases are intended to cover the issue of shares under the Group’s share option schemes.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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30. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS TO BE ADOPTED IN FUTURE YEARS

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 29 February 
2008, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated fi nancial statements. Those standards and interpretations 
which are applicable to the Group are presented below.

IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements

This standard introduces new requirements in respect of the presentation of fi nancial statements. 

All non-owner changes in equity will be presented in a single statement of comprehensive income (which will include the 
current income statement) and owner changes in equity in the statement of changes in equity.

Reclassifi cation adjustments and income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income will be disclosed on 
the face of the statement of comprehensive income. Currently these components are the valuation reserve and the foreign 
currency translation reserve.

This standard becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2010 fi nancial statements, where disclosures will change accordingly.

IAS 23: Borrowing Costs

This standard requires a change in the accounting for borrowing costs. 

All borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets must be 
capitalised to the cost of the asset. Currently these borrowing costs are expensed. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale. The Group’s existing accounting policy on 
borrowing costs will change as a result of the adoption of the revised IAS23.

This standard becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2010 fi nancial statements. The impact is not likely to be material.

IAS 27 amendment: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

In accordance with the amendments to IAS 27, acquisitions of additional non-controlling equity interests in subsidiaries have to 
be accounted for as equity transactions. Disposals of equity interests while retaining control are also accounted for as equity 
transactions. When control of an investee is lost, the resulting gain or loss relating to the transaction will be recognised in 
profi t and loss.

The amendments to IAS 27 also require that losses (including negative “other comprehensive income” as detailed in the 
revised IAS 1) have to be allocated to the non-controlling interest, even if doing so causes the non-controlling interest to be in 
a defi cit position. The Group will in future change its accounting policies on the allocation of losses to non-controlling interests. 
In the past, losses would only have been allocated until the non-controlling interest had a zero balance (if applicable).

This statement becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2011 fi nancial statements.

IFRS 2 amendment: Share-based Payments

The amendments apply to equity-settled share-based payment transactions and clarify what are “vesting” and “non-vesting 
conditions”. Vesting conditions are now limited to service conditions (as defi ned in the current IFRS 2) and performance 
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are conditions that do not determine whether the entity receives the services that entitles 
the counterparty to a share-based payment. Non-vesting conditions are taken into account in measuring the grant date fair 
value and thereafter there is no “true-up” for differences between expected and actual outcomes. 

These changes will have no impact on the Group’s fi nancial statements as the treatment of “non-vesting conditions” is 
consistent with the Group’s current accounting policies. The changes to IFRS 2 become mandatory for the Group’s 2010 
fi nancial statements.

IFRS 3: Business Combinations

IFRS 3 applies to all new business combinations that occur after 1 January 2010. For these future business combinations, the 
Group will change its accounting policies to be in line with the revised IFRS 3. In future all transaction costs will be expensed 
and any contingent purchase consideration will be recognised at fair value at acquisition date. For successive share purchases, 
any gain or loss for the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree will be recognised in profi t and loss. 

The revised IFRS 3 becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2011 fi nancial statements.

IFRS 8: Operating Segments

This standard introduces the “management approach” to segment reporting, signifi cantly extending the scope of segmental 
reporting, to bring it in line with key segmented management information, used by key executives in the decision-making of 
the Group. Currently the Group presents segment information in respect of geographic segments only. This standard becomes 
mandatory for the Group’s 2010 fi nancial statements.
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COMPANY

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

31. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Shares at cost

Trading 37.5 37.5

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited “A122 ordinary shares”

Pick n Pay Retailers (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay Garages (Pty) Limited

The Blue Ribbon Meat Corporation (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay Franchise Financing (Pty) Limited

The Pick n Pay Employee Share Purchase Trust

Raymond Ackerman Holdings Limited

Property owning 0.5 0.5

Alstar (Pty) Limited

Bedworth Sentrum (Pty) Limited

Carrefour (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay (Bellville) (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay (Mitchells Plain) Limited

Pick n Pay (Newton Park) (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay (Steelpark) (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay Wholesalers (Pty) Limited

Pick n Pay Wholesalers (Transvaal) (Pty) Limited

Dormant companies 0.3 0.3

38.3 38.3

Held by other Group trading subsidiaries:

 Pick n Pay (Gabriel Road) (Pty) Limited

 Pick n Pay Insurance Company Limited

 Pick n Pay Namibia (Pty) Limited (registered in Namibia)

 Pick n Pay (Steeledale) (Pty) Limited

 Boxer Holdings (Pty) Limited

 Boxer Superstores (Pty) Limited

 Boxer Fresh Meats (Pty) Limited

 Mfolozi Properties (Pty) Limited

 KwaZulu Cash & Carry (Pty) Limited

 InterFrank Group Holdings Pty Limited (registered in Australia)

 Franklins Pty Limited (registered in Australia)

 Franklins Supermarkets Pty Limited (registered in Australia)

 Fresco Supermarket Holdings Pty Limited (registered in Australia)

 Score Supermarkets Operating Limited

 Score Supermarkets (Trading) (Pty) Limited

 Score Supermarkets (Botswana) (Pty) Limited (registered in Botswana)

 Score Supermarkets (Southern Africa) (Pty) Limited (registered in Botswana)

 Score Supermarkets (Swaziland) Limited (registered in Swaziland)

All companies are 100% held and incorporated in South Africa except where 
indicated.

A comprehensive list of Group subsidiaries is available on request at the 
registered offi ce of the Company.

The attributable earnings of subsidiaries, excluding inter-company dividends 971.3 851.7

The attributable losses of subsidiaries 30.9 136.9
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Company and
Group Annual Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Company and Group annual fi nancial statements, 

comprising the directors’ report, balance sheets at 29 February 2008, and the income statements, the statements of changes 

in equity and cash fl ow statements for the year then ended, a summary of signifi cant accounting policies and the notes to the 

fi nancial statements, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa.

The directors responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 

fair presentation of these fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management 

as well as the preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these fi nancial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the Company and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason 

to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual fi nancial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the 

applicable fi nancial reporting framework.
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DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL

The directors acknowledge and accept full responsibility for the preparation and integrity of the information presented in the 

Company and Group annual fi nancial statements.

The Company and Group annual fi nancial statements of Pick n Pay Holdings Limited, which have been prepared in accordance 

with the Companies Act of South Africa and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards, were approved by the 

Board of directors on 5 May 2008 and are signed on their behalf by:

Gareth Ackerman Raymond Ackerman

Chairman Director

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE

In terms of section 268G(d) of the Companies Act 61 of 1973, as amended, I certify that Pick n Pay Holdings Limited has 

lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required by the Companies Act, and that all such returns are 

true, correct and up to date.

Gary Lea

Company Secretary

5 May 2008

Directors’ Approval and
Company Secretary’s Certificate
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to the members of

PICK N PAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

We have audited the Company and Group annual fi nancial 

statements and of Pick n Pay Holdings Limited, which 

comprise the balance sheets at 29 February 2008, and the 

income statements, the statements of changes in equity 

and cash fl ow statements for the year then ended, and the 

notes to the fi nancial statements, which include a summary 

of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory 

notes, and the directors’ report as set out on pages 96 to 

109.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial statements

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South 

Africa. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing 

and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 

circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial 

statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  

Those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements are 

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 

to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 

fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 

purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 

of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the consolidated and separate fi nancial 

position of Pick n Pay Holdings Limited at 29 February 

2008, and its consolidated and separate fi nancial 

performance and consolidated and separate cash fl ows for 

the year then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required 

by the Companies Act of South Africa.

KPMG Inc.

Registered Auditor

Per David Friedland

Chartered Accountant (SA)

Registered Auditor

Director

5 May 2008

MSC House

Mediterranean Street

Cape Town

8001

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Directors’ Report
for the year ended 29 February 2008

STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION

The Company, which is domiciled and incorporated in the 

Republic of South Africa and listed on the JSE Limited 

(“JSE”), the recognised securities exchange in South Africa, 

was formed with the sole purpose of holding a controlling 

interest in Pick n Pay Stores Limited. The Company is 

entitled to redistribute any dividend received from 

Pick n Pay Stores Limited.

GENERAL REVIEW 

The Group income statement is presented on page 98 and 

refl ects the Group’s operational results. 

The Group’s headline earnings and dividends paid for the 

year are as follows:

%
Per share – cents 2008 increase 2007

Headline earnings 
 (note 3)

97.92 7.6 90.94*

Dividends** 72.83 11.1 65.52

* Headline earnings per share presented before the reversal of a deferred 
tax asset of R26.1 million. As the reversal did not arise from trading 
activity, the Group considered a headline earnings calculation excluding 
this charge to more fairly refl ect its result for that year.

** The dividend per share presented is the interim dividend paid in the 
current year and the fi nal dividend declared after year-end, but in respect 
of current year profi t.

RELATIVE SHARE VALUE

The directors consider that the ratio of the dividend paid 

per share for the year of Pick n Pay Holdings Limited 

(PIKWIK) of 67.53 cents, to that of Pick n Pay Stores Limited 

(PICKNPAY), 138.35 cents, determines the relative value of 

a Pick n Pay Holdings Limited share, which, based on these 

fi gures, is 48.8% (2007: 48.8%) of a Pick n Pay Stores 

Limited share.

INVESTMENT

The Company’s sole asset is its 50.8% (2007: 52.9%) direct 

shareholding in its subsidiary, Pick n Pay Stores Limited, and 

its main source of income is the dividend received from 

Pick n Pay Stores Limited. After taking into account the 

Pick n Pay Stores Limited treasury shares held by the Group, 

the Company’s effective holding in Pick n Pay Stores Limited 

at year-end is 54.7% (2007: 56.4%).

DIVIDENDS PAID AND DECLARED

A cash dividend (number 51) of 52.35 cents per share was 

paid to shareholders on 11 June 2007.

A cash dividend (number 52) of 15.18 cents per share was 

paid to shareholders on 18 December 2007.

For further detail, refer to note 4.

The directors have declared a cash dividend (number 53) of 

57.65 cents per share. The last day of trade in order to 

participate in the dividend (CUM dividend) will be Friday, 

6 June 2008. Shares will trade EX dividend from the 

commencement of business on Monday, 9 June 2008 and 

the record date is Friday, 13 June 2008. The dividend will be 

paid on Tuesday, 17 June 2008. Share certifi cates may not 

be dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday, 

9 June 2008 and Friday, 13 June 2008, both dates inclusive.

As dividend number 53 was declared on 21 April 2008 it 

will only be accounted for in the 2009 fi nancial year. No 

liability for Secondary Tax on Companies (STC) will be 

payable on this dividend as the Company will have 

suffi cient STC credits to offset any liability.

SHARE CAPITAL 

There was no movement in the number of issued ordinary 

shares during the year, which remains at 527 249 082.

As at year-end, the Pick n Pay Employee Share Purchase 

Trust and a subsidiary company held 11 228 333 

(2007: 14 780 363) and 1 680 303 (2007: 1 520 103) shares 

in the Company, respectively. These shares are refl ected as 

treasury shares in the annual fi nancial statements.

GOING CONCERN

These annual fi nancial statements have been prepared on a 

going concern basis. 

The Board has performed a formal review of the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable 

future and, based on this review, considers that the 

presentation of the fi nancial statements on this basis is 

appropriate. 

There are no pending or threatened legal or arbitration 

proceedings which would or may have a material effect on 

the fi nancial position of the Group.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS 

On 14 June 2007, the Company’s shareholders approved 

the following special resolution.

General authority to repurchase Company shares 

It was resolved that the Company and any of its subsidiaries 

may, in accordance with sections 85 and 89 of the 

Companies Act, acquire issued shares of the Company, 

upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as 

the directors of the Company may determine from time to 

time. Acquisition of such shares is subject to the Articles of 

Association of the Company, the provisions of the 

Companies Act and the Listings Requirements of the JSE 

Limited (“JSE”), and provided further that acquisitions by 

the Company may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any one 

fi nancial year 5% of the Company’s issued share capital.

Subsidiary company special resolution 

On 14 June 2007, Pick n Pay Stores Limited passed the 

same special resolution as the Company.

DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY 

In terms of the Company’s Articles of Association the 

directors listed on page 121 retire by rotation and they offer 

themselves for re-election. Information pertaining to the 

directors and the secretary appears on page 13.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES 

2008 2007
% %

Benefi cial 0.5 0.2
Non-benefi cial 49.9 49.8

50.4 50.0

BORROWINGS 

The Company’s overall level of borrowings is unchanged 

from the prior year. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

All corporate governance structures referred to on pages 34 

to 38 also apply to Pick n Pay Holdings Limited.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no facts or circumstances of a material 

nature that have arisen between the fi nancial year-end and 

the date of this report.
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Income Statements
for the year ended 29 February 2008

GROUP COMPANY

Notes  
2008

Rm
2007

Rm
2008

Rm
2007

Rm

Revenue 1 47 466.9 41 128.1 356.4 302.4

Turnover 45 380.7 39 337.1  —   —   

Cost of merchandise sold (37 411.0) (32 443.2)  —    —   

Gross profi t 7 969.7 6 893.9 — —

Other trading income 1 2 037.3 1 749.4  0.4  —

Trading expenses (8 515.4) (7 354.9) — —

 Employee costs (4 364.5) (3 810.6)  —    —   

 Occupancy (1 140.3) (992.1)  —   —   

 Operations (1 363.7) (1 130.3)  —    —   

 Merchandising and administration (1 646.9) (1 421.9) — —

Loss on sale of property, equipment
   and vehicles (4.4) (17.0)  —    —   

Trading profi t 1 487.2 1 271.4 0.4 —

Interest received 48.9 41.6 — —

Interest paid (79.2) (49.3) — —

Profi t on sale of stores 47.0 7.6  —   —  

Operating profi t 1 503.9 1 271.3 0.4 —

Dividends received  —    —  356.0 302.4

Share of associate’s profi t  —  26.1  —   —  

Impairment of investment in associate (9.1) (64.0)  —  —   

Impairment of goodwill  —   (36.3)  —    —  

Profi t on sale of investments  —   8.2  —  —   

Profi t before tax 1 494.8 1 205.3 356.4 302.4

Tax (557.7) (529.7) (0.1)  —   

Profi t for the year 937.1 675.6 356.3 302.4

Profi t for the year attributable to:

 Equity holders of the Company 520.6 379.5 356.3 302.4

 Minority shareholders 416.5 296.1 — —

937.1 675.6 356.3 302.4

Earnings per share – cents

 Basic 3 101.55 74.61

 Diluted basic 3 96.93 69.14
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Balance Sheets
as at 29 February 2008

GROUP COMPANY

Notes

2008
Rm

2007
Rm

restated

2008
Rm

2007
Rm

restated*

Assets

Non-current assets

 Goodwill  857.5  714.3  —  — 

 Intangible assets  329.8  190.3  —  — 

 Property, equipment and vehicles  2 771.1  2 525.2  —  — 

 Investments 5  0.2  0.2 128.0 128.0

 Investment in associate  —  9.1  —  — 

 Loans  121.6  109.1 0.9  0.3 

 Operating lease asset  10.9  5.9  — — 

 Participation in export partnerships  61.5  67.8  —  — 

 Deferred tax  143.6  151.2  — —

 4 296.2  3 773.1 128.9 128.3

Current assets

 Inventory  3 101.4  2 367.4  —  — 

 Trade and other receivables  1 243.9  943.7 — — 

 Cash and cash equivalents  663.2  709.1  —  — 

 5 008.5  4 020.2 — — 

Total assets  9 304.7  7 793.3 128.9 128.3

Equity and liabilities

Capital and reserves

 Share capital 6  6.6  6.6  6.6  6.6 

 Share premium  120.8 120.8 120.8 120.8

 Treasury shares 7  (54.4)  (60.6)  —  — 

 Share-based payment reserve 61.7 38.4  —  — 

 Accumulated profi ts 399.2 326.8  0.2 —

 Foreign currency translation reserve 225.4 105.6  —  — 

Attributable to equity holders of the
 Company 759.3 537.6 127.6 127.4

Minority interest 674.7 477.8  —  — 

Total shareholders’ interest  1 434.0  1 015.4  127.6  127.4 

Non-current liabilities

 Long-term debt  681.3  181.8  —  — 

 Retirement scheme obligations  49.0  129.0  —  — 

 Operating lease liability  626.9  584.3  —  — 

 1 357.2  895.1  —  — 

Current liabilities

 Short-term debt  36.4  51.6  —  — 

 Trade and other payables  6 209.7  5 605.7  1.2  0.9 

 Tax  267.4  225.5  0.1  — 

 6 513.5  5 882.8  1.3  0.9 

Total equity and liabilities  9 304.7  7 793.3  128.9  128.3 

* An amount of R0.3 million classifi ed as trade and other receivables in the prior year has been reclassifi ed as loans, under non-current assets.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 29 February 2008

Notes

Share 
capital

Rm

Share 
premium

Rm

Treasury
shares

Rm

Share- 
based

payment
reserve

Rm

Accumu-
lated

profi ts
Rm

Valu-
ation

reserve
Rm

Foreign
 currency

 trans-
lation

 reserve
Rm

Minority
interest

Rm
Total

Rm

GROUP
At 1 March 2006 – restated  6.6  120.8  (71.5)  21.7  310.9  4.3  19.3  442.8  854.9
Total recognised income and
 expense for the year        379.5  (4.3) 93.0  364.7 832.9 

Profi t for the year  379.5  296.1 675.6 
Gains and losses recognised
 directly in equity:
Revaluation of listed investments
 recycled to the income statement  (4.3)  (3.9)  (8.2) 
Foreign currency translation 93.0  72.5  165.5

Dividends paid 4  (302.4) (302.4)
Dividends paid by subsidiary to
 minorities  (221.4)  (221.4) 
Share repurchases 7  (8.0) (8.0)
Subsidiary’s share repurchases  (119.8)  (93.4)  (213.2) 
Take-up of share options 7  18.9  (3.0) 15.9
Take-up of subsidiary’s share options  15.4  12.1  27.5 
Share options expense  16.4  12.8 29.2
Impact of movement in treasury shares 0.3 46.2 (6.7) (39.8) —
At 28 February 2007  6.6  120.8  (60.6) 38.4  326.8  —  105.6  477.8  1 015.4
Issue of share capital – Pick n Pay
 Stores Limited (1.7) 40.0 (4.5) 46.1 79.9
Total recognised income and
 expense for the year       520.6   125.0  516.6  1 162.2

Profi t for the year  520.6 416.5 937.1 
Gains and losses recognised
 directly in equity:
Foreign currency translation  125.0  100.1 225.1

Dividends paid 4  (356.1) (356.1)
Dividends paid by subsidiary to 
 minorities  (258.8)  (258.8) 
Share repurchases 7  (9.9) (9.9)
Subsidiary’s share repurchases  (161.0)  (128.7) (289.7)
Take-up of share options 7  16.1  (1.0) 15.1
Take-up of subsidiary’s share options  17.1 13.6 30.7
Share options expense  25.1  20.1  45.2 
Impact of movement in treasury shares (0.1) 12.8 (0.7) (12.0) —

At 29 February 2008  6.6  120.8  (54.4)  61.7  399.2  —  225.4  674.7  1 434.0 

The comparative information presented above has been restated to correct a prior year error in the consolidation of the 
Pick n Pay Holdings Limited Group. The restatement has resulted in reallocations between the various equity accounts 
and minority interests. Please refer to note 8.
COMPANY
At 1 March 2006  6.6  120.8  —  —  —  —  —  — 127.4 
Profi t for the year  302.4 302.4 
Dividends paid 4  (302.4) (302.4)

At 28 February 2007  6.6  120.8  —  —  —  —  —  —  127.4
Profi t for the year  356.3 356.3
Dividends paid 4  (356.1) (356.1)

At 29 February 2008  6.6  120.8  —  —  0.2  —  —  — 127.6
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes

2008
Rm

2007
Rm

2008
Rm

2007
Rm

restated

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Trading profi t  1 487.2  1 271.4  0.4  — 
Loss on sale of property, equipment
 and vehicles  4.4  17.0  —  — 
Depreciation and amortisation  548.2  426.4  —  — 
Share options expense  45.2  29.2  —  — 
Net accrual for lease expenditure  37.6  28.8  —  — 
Increase in trade and other payables  501.6  868.1  0.3  — 
Increase in inventory  (734.0)  (383.2)  —  — 
Increase in trade and other receivables  (293.9)  (189.1) — — 

Cash generated by trading activities  1 596.3  2 068.6  0.7  — 
 Interest received  48.9  41.6 —  — 
 Interest paid  (79.2)  (49.3)  —  — 

Cash generated by operations  1 566.0  2 060.9  0.7  — 
 Dividends received  —  —  356.0  302.4 
 Dividends paid by Company 4  (356.1)  (302.4)  (356.1)  (302.4) 
 Dividends paid to minorities  (258.8)  (221.4)  —  — 
 Tax paid  (504.7)  (449.9)  —  — 

Net cash from operating activities  446.4  1 087.2 0.6  — 

Cash fl ows from investing activities
 Acquisition of stores  —  (2.2)  —  — 
 Intangible asset additions  (163.0)  (79.8)  —  — 
 Property additions  (107.5)  (280.3)  —  — 
 Proceeds on disposal of stores  50.6  29.2  —  — 
 Equipment and vehicle additions  (559.8)  (743.3)  —  — 
 Leased equipment and vehicle additions  (30.9)  (23.4)  —  — 
 Proceeds on sale of investments  —  9.1  —  — 
 Loans advanced  (12.5)  (12.1) (0.6)  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (823.1)  (1 102.8) (0.6)  —

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
 Debt raised/(repaid)  484.2  (38.9)  —  — 
 Issue of shares  79.9  — 
 Share repurchases  (299.6)  (221.2)  —  — 
 Proceeds from employees on
  take-up of share options  45.8  43.4  —  — 

Net cash from/(used in) fi nancing
 activities  310.3  (216.7) —  — 

Net decrease in cash and cash
 equivalents  (66.4)  (232.3)  —  — 
 Cash and cash equivalents at 
  1 March  709.1  944.6  —  — 
 Effect of exchange rate fl uctuations
  on cash and cash equivalents  20.5  (3.2)  —  — 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
 29 February  663.2  709.1 —  —

Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 29 February 2008
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Except as presented below, the accounting policies and notes to the annual fi nancial statements and consolidated 
annual fi nancial statements for Pick n Pay Holdings Limited are identical to those disclosed for Pick n Pay Stores 
Limited on pages 51 to 92.

GROUP COMPANY

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

2008 
Rm

2007 
Rm

1. REVENUE
Revenue comprises:
Turnover 45 380.7 39 337.1  —  — 
Interest received 48.9 41.6  —  — 
Dividends received  —  — 356.0 302.4
Other trading income 2 037.3 1 749.4 0.4  — 

 Incentive fee income* 1 879.0 1 625.5  —  — 
 Franchise fee income 120.6 94.6  —  — 
 Property lease income 37.3 29.3  —  — 
 Administration fee income 0.4  — 0.4  — 

47 466.9 41 128.1 356.4 302.4

* Incentive fee income is income received from suppliers in respect of the advertising and promoting of merchandise.

2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES
For emoluments paid to directors, refer to note 3.1 of the Pick n Pay Stores Limited annual fi nancial statements on 
page 61.

No share options are held by directors. The following share options are held by directors of Pick n Pay Stores Limited:

1997 Share Option Scheme

Year
granted

Option
grant
price

R

Balance
held at

1 March
2007

Granted
during

the year

Taken up
in year

at grant
price

Balance
held at

29 February
2008

Value of
options

exercised*
Rm

Available
for

take-up

Directors – 
 Pick n Pay Stores
 Limited
Nick Badminton 2002 3.80 800  —  — 800  — Now

800  —  — 800  — 

Dennis Cope 2001 3.80 33 000 — (33 000) — 0.4 —
2002 4.50 72 300  — (72 300)  — 0.8  — 
2002 3.80 800  — (800)  —  —  — 

106 100  — (106 100)  — 1.2

David Robins 1999 2.00 200 000  — (200 000)  —  2.6  — 
1999 2.50 100 000  — (100 000)  —  1.3  — 
2000 3.25 95 000  — (95 000)  —  1.1  — 
2001 3.80 39 500  — (39 500)  —  0.4  — 
2002 4.50 55 600  — (55 600)  —  0.6  — 
2003 5.10 180 000  — (180 000)  —  1.8  — 
2003 5.10 180 000  —  — 180 000  — April 2008
2003 5.10 240 000  —  — 240 000  — April 2010
2005 8.30 400  —  — 400  — Now

1 090 500  — (670 100) 420 400  7.8 

*The value of options exercised is equal to the market value of the shares on the date taken up less the purchase price of those options.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
for the year ended 29 February 2008
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2. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES (continued)

Directors’ direct interest in shares

The following shares are held by directors of the Company and of Pick n Pay Stores Limited:

Balance
held at

1 March
2007
000’s

Additions
during

the year
000’s

Average
purchase

price
per share

R

Disposals
during

the year
000’s

Average
selling

price
per share

R

Balance
held at

29 February
2008
000’s

Benefi cial/
non-

benefi cial
interest

Directors – 
 Pick n Pay
 Holdings Limited

Raymond Ackerman* 
658.4  —  — (23.2)  — 635.2 Benefi cial

Gareth Ackerman** 2 856.4 62.9 15.06  —  — 2 919.3
Non-

benefi cial

Raymond Ackerman/

Wendy Ackerman/

Gareth Ackerman*** 259 756.0 240.0 14.63  —  — 259 996.0

Non-

benefi cial

Hugh Herman 130.0  —  —  —  — 130.0 Benefi cial

Directors – 
 Pick n Pay Stores
 Limited

Nick Badminton 880.6  —  —  —  — 880.6 Benefi cial

Dennis Cope 200.0 106.1 4.28 (106.1)  15.61 200.0 Benefi cial

David Nurek 40.0  —  —  —  — 40.0
Non-

benefi cial

David Robins 36.2 670.1 3.40  —  — 706.3 Benefi cial

* The disposal for the year was a donation for no consideration.

**The non-benefi cial interest represents the holding by the Burrumbuck Trust of which Gareth Ackerman is a trustee.

*** The non-benefi cial interest represents the holding by the Ackerman Family Trust of 254.9 million shares and 5.1 million shares held by the Mistral Trust, 
of which these directors are trustees.
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GROUP

2008
Cents

per share

2007
Cents per

share

3. BASIC, HEADLINE AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (note 3.1) 101.55 74.61

Headline – before deferred tax reversal (note 3.1) 97.92 90.94*

Headline (note 3.1) 97.92 85.81

Diluted basic (note 3.2) 96.93 69.14

Diluted headline (note 3.2) 93.49 79.50

* As the reversal of the deferred tax asset did not arise from trading activity, the Group considered a 
headline earnings calculation excluding this charge to more fairly refl ect its result for that year.

Rm Rm

3.1 Basic and headline earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings (profi t for the year) per share and
 headline earnings per share is based on:

Basic earnings (profi t for the year) 520.6 379.5

Headline earnings before deferred tax reversal 502.0 462.6

Headline earnings 502.0 436.5

and:
No. of shares

000’s
No. of shares

000’s

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year: 512 644.5 508 670.3

Rm Rm

Reconciliation between basic and headline earnings:

Basic earnings (profi t for the year) 520.6 379.5

 Adjustments: (18.6) 57.0

 Loss on sale of property, equipment and vehicles 2.4 9.5

 Profi t on sale of stores (26.1) (4.3)

 Impairment of investment in associate 5.1 36.0

 Impairment of Score goodwill  — 20.4

 Profi t on sale of investments  — (4.6)

Headline earnings 502.0 436.5

 Reversal of deferred tax asset  — 26.1

Headline earnings before deferred tax reversal 502.0 462.6

and:
No. of shares

000’s
No. of shares

000’s

Movement in the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
 comprises:

At 1 March 508 670.3 505 367.9

  Net sale of treasury shares by the share trust, pursuant to the take-up of 
 share options 3 974.2 3 302.4

At 29 February 512 644.5 508 670.3
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GROUP

2008
Rm

2007
Rm

3. BASIC, HEADLINE AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

3.2 Diluted basic and headline earnings per share

The calculation of diluted basic earnings per share and diluted headline
 earnings per share is based on:

Diluted basic earnings 503.4 358.4

Diluted headline earnings 485.5 412.1

and:

Number
 of shares

000’s

Number
of shares

000’s

The diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the year: 519 331.9 518 383.3

Rm Rm

Reconciliation between basic earnings and diluted basic earnings:

Basic earnings (profi t for the year) 520.6 379.5

 Debenture interest after tax 0.5 1.2

 Pick n Pay Stores Limited’s dilution effect (17.7) (22.3)

Diluted basic earnings 503.4 358.4

 Diluted headline earnings adjustments (18.6) 57.0

 Pick n Pay Stores Limited’s dilution effect 0.7 (3.3)

Diluted headline earnings 485.5 412.1

and:

Number
 of shares

000’s

Number
 of shares

000’s

Reconciliation of the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
 issue for diluted earnings per share:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 512 644.5 508 670.3

 Dilutive effect of share options 6 687.4 9 713.0

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for purposes of
 calculating diluted earnings per share 519 331.9 518 383.3

COMPANY

2008
Cents

2007
Cents

4. DIVIDENDS

Number 51 – declared 23 April 2007 – paid 11 June 2007 52.35 44.18

Number 52 – declared 15 October 2007 – paid 18 December 2007 15.18 13.17

Total dividends paid for the year 67.53 57.35

Rm Rm

Total value of dividends paid by the Company  356.1 302.4

For further details, including dividends declared after 29 February 2008, refer to the directors’ report on page 96 and 
shareholders’ information on page 40.
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for the year ended 29 February 2008

Pick n Pay Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

COMPANY

2008
Rm

2007
Rm

5. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

Pick n Pay Stores Limited

257 345 334 (2007: 257 345 334) ordinary shares

 Initial investment 24.7 24.7

 Capitalisation share awards received 103.3 103.3

Total investment at cost 128.0 128.0

Market value 7 977.7 8 456.4

6. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

800 000 000 ordinary shares of 1.25 cents each 10.0 10.0

Issued

527 249 082 ordinary shares of 1.25 cents each 6.6 6.6

000’s 000’s

Number of shares in issue at 29 February is made up as follows:

Treasury shares held in the share trust (note 7) 11 228.3 14 780.4

Treasury shares held in a subsidiary company (note 7) 1 680.3 1 520.1

12 908.6 16 300.5

Shares held outside the Holdings Group 514 340.5 510 948.6

At 29 February 527 249.1 527 249.1

118 million of the unissued shares remain under the control of the directors 
until the next annual general meeting.

Share Incentive Scheme

The directors are authorised to utilise up to 17.5% of the issued share capital 
for the scheme.

Number of
options 

000’s

Number of
options 

000’s

Movement in the number of shares granted but not taken up are 
as follows:

At 1 March 15 210.0 19 581.5

New options granted* 708.8 860.8

Options taken up** (4 115.4) (5 232.3)

Options forfeited  —  — 

At 29 February 11 803.4 15 210.0

Percentage of issued shares 2.2% 2.9%

Options available for granting under current authorisation 80 465.2 77 058.6

*Average price of options granted during the year R 13.25 R 12.15

**Average price of options taken up during the year R 3.69 R 3.09
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COMPANY

2008
Number of

options 
000’s

2007
Number of

options 
000’s

6. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Options granted may be taken up during the following fi nancial years:

Year Average grant price

2009 R5.43 11 563.4

2010 R5.10 240.0

11 803.4

Number of
shares 

000’s

Number of
shares
000’s

The Employee Share Purchase Trust, which administers the 1997 Share
 Option Scheme, holds the following number of ordinary shares:

As a hedge against shares granted or to be granted by that scheme refl ected 
 as treasury shares 11 228.3 14 780.4

On behalf of share purchase scheme participants 546.9 627.6

11 775.2 15 408.0
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 29 February 2008

Pick n Pay Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

7. TREASURY SHARES

Treasury shares comprise Pick n Pay Holdings Limited shares held by a
 subsidiary company and the share trust

At 1 March 60.6 71.5

 Share repurchases 9.9 8.0

 Take-up of share options (16.1) (18.9)

At 29 February 54.4 60.6

Number of
shares 

000’s

Number of
shares
000’s

The movement in the number of treasury shares is as follows:

At 1 March 16 300.5 20 857.2

 Shares purchased during the year 650.6 595.8

 Shares sold during the year, pursuant to the take-up of share options (4 042.5) (5 152.5)

At 29 February 12 908.6 16 300.5

Comprises:

Shares held by share trust 11 228.3 14 780.4

Shares held by a subsidiary company 1 680.3 1 520.1

Average purchase price of shares purchased during the year R15.02 R13.38

Average purchase price of shares held at year-end R4.21 R3.72

GROUP

 
2008

Rm
2007

Rm
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8. CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEAR ERROR

In prior years, the consolidation of the Pick n Pay Holdings Limited Group did not take into account the Pick n Pay 
Stores Limited (“Stores”) treasury shares held by a subsidiary company and the share trust. The Stores shares held by 
subsidiaries should be treated as cancelled for the purposes of consolidation, thereby increasing Pick n Pay Holdings 
Limited’s effective control of Stores and decreasing the effective holding of minorities. The correction of this error has 
resulted in various reallocations in equity between the Company’s share of equity and minority interests. The 
restatements are presented below.
This adjustment has had no impact on the total equity or the cash fl ows of the Company. There is no effect on the 
shareholders of the Company, as all income earned by the Company is paid out to shareholders in the form of 
dividends.

Share-based
payment

reserve
Accumulated

profi ts

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Minority
interest

At 1 March 2006 – as restated 21.7 310.9 19.3 442.8 

 At 1 March 2006 – as previously stated 20.5 281.5 13.4 479.3 

 Correction of prior year error  1.2 29.4 5.9 (36.5)

Movement in equity in the prior year:  

Total recognised income and expense
 for the year — 379.5  93.0 364.7 

 As previously stated — 357.6 87.6 392.0 

 Correction of prior year error — 21.9  5.4 (27.3) 

Dividends paid  (302.4)  

Dividends paid by subsidiary to minorities (221.4)

Take-up of share options (3.0)

Subsidiary’s share repurchases — (119.8) — (93.4)

 As previously stated — (112.9) — (100.3)

 Correction of prior year error — (6.9) — 6.9

Take-up of subsidiary’s share
 options — 15.4 — 12.1

 As previously stated — 14.6 — 12.9

 Correction of prior year error — 0.8 — (0.8)

Share options expense 16.4 — — 12.8

 As previously stated 15.5 — — 13.7

 Correction of prior year error 0.9 — — (0.9)

Impact of movements in treasury shares 0.3 46.2 (6.7) (39.8)

At 28 February 2007 – as restated 38.4 326.8 105.6 477.8
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Divisional Directors

CHAIRMAN’S EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEE (EXCO)

Raymond Ackerman

Wendy Ackerman

Nick Badminton

Suzanne Ackerman-Berman

Dennis Cope

Isaac Motaung

Adrian Naudé 

David Robins

Aubrey Zelinsky

RETAIL DIVISION
MANAGEMENT BOARD

Nick Badminton (46) 

CEO

Years of Service 29

Jonathan Ackerman (41)

Marketing

Years of Service 17

Suzanne Ackerman-Berman (45)

Transformation 

Years of Service 13

Dennis Cope (57)

Group Finance 

Years of Service 30

Paul Connellan (53) 

Foods

Years of Service 30

Harold Dawson (49)

Technology & Systems

Years of Service 18

Bakar Jakoet (52) 

Group Finance Controller

Years of Service 23

Izak Joubert (38)

Property & Operations

Years of Service 15

Dallas Langman (38)

Stores

Years of Service 18

Isaac Motaung (53)

Human Resources

Years of Service 32

Neal Quirk (52)

Franchise

Years of Service 26

Bronwen Rohland (44)

Group Services

Years of Service 22

Linda Saacks (52) 

Employee Training & Development

Years of Service 28

Chris van Rooyen (50) 

Project Inland Region 

Years of Service 28

GROUP ENTERPRISES
MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Nick Badminton (46) 

CEO

Years of Service 29

Adrian Naudé (37)

Managing Director

Years of Service 10

Hugh Bland (53)

Boxer

Years of Service 20

Retired 1 March 2008

Dennis Cope (57)

Group Finance

Years of Service 30

Chris Reed (47)

Score

Years of Service 23

Eugene Stoop (53)

Boxer

Years of Service 16

Appointed 1 March 2008

Frans van der Colff (49)

Score conversions 

Years of Service 20

FRANKLINS AUSTRALIA DIRECTORS 
AND MANAGEMENT BOARD 

Nick Badminton (46) 

CEO
Years of Service 29

Aubrey Zelinsky (58)

Managing Director

Years of Service 38

Dennis Cope (57)

Group Finance

Years of Service 30

Roni Perlov (45)

Finance 

Years of Service 9

David Robins (54)

Deputy Chairman

Years of Service 14

PICK N PAY RETAILERS 
(PTY) LIMITED

Hypermarket
General Managers

Duncan Pentz (51)

Head of Hypermarkets 

Years of Service 27

Mark Bishop (45)

Wonderpark

Years of Service 25

Jan de Beer (35)

Brackenfell

Years of Service 10

Hoosain Hansrod (55)

Princess Crossing 

Years of Service 28

Ian Hughes (41)

Moffett Park

Years of Service 21

Patrick Kgengwenyane (36)

Northgate 

Years of Service 10

The following Executives are Divisional Directors of our main operating companies: 
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Johannes Letswalo (48)

Soweto 

Years of Service 24

Steve Longmore (34)

Faerie Glen

Years of Service 13

Piet Lubbe (45)

Norwood

Years of Service 23

Nigel Money (37)

Woodmead

Years of Service 13 

Ravi Naidoo (39) 

Durban

Years of Service (20)

Luis Nunes (41)

Ottery

Years of Service 19

Folkers Oosthuizen (42)

Bedworth Park

Years of Service 20

Devin Richter (34)

Bloemfontein

Years of Service 15

Jeff Ramoroto (43) 

Steeledale 

Years of Service 18

Craig Tapping (35)

Boksburg

Years of Service 16

Gamieda Tim (42)

Centurion

Years of Service 19

Warren van der Vlies (38)

Greenstone

Years of Service 13

Michael van Niekerk (38)

Klerksdorp

Years of Service 18

Jacques van Rooyen (48)

Montana

Years of Service 21

Supermarket
General Managers

Dion Blom (41)

KwaZulu-Natal

Years of Service 18

Anil Gopichund (39)

Gauteng – Corporate 

Years of Service 21

Abdurahman Hamdulay (36)

Western Cape

Years of Service 15

Kevin Korb (48)

Gauteng 

Years of Service 26

Luke Louw (50)

Northern Region

Years of Service 26

Wim Theron (40)

Eastern Cape 

Years of Service 10

Jarett van Vuuren (34)

Western Cape – Corporate

Years of Service 15

Johan van Zyl (37)

Northern Region – Corporate

Years of Service 16

Dirk Venter (54)

Free State

Years of Service 27

Corporate 
General Managers

Rowan Armstrong (44)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 23

Michael Anderson (42) 

Food Distribution – Gauteng

Years of Service 5

Peter Arnold (46)

Fresh Foods

Years of Service 24

Cobus Barnard (43)

Convenience Strategy 

Years of Service 1

George Barry (50) 

Franchise – KZN

Years of Service 17

Malcolm Baxter (60)

Store Planning 

Years of Service 39

Retired 1 April 2008 

Solly Bendrau (52)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 30

Gigi Bisogno (52)

National Perishable Buyer

Years of Service 31

Anthony Brown (39)

Corporate Foods – Gauteng

Years of Service 14

Tessa Chamberlain (48)

Sustainable Development

Years of Service 9

Rob Clifford (59)

National Operations

Years of Service 14

Michael Coles (53)

Clothing

Years of Service 13

Charl Cowley (36)

Group Audit Services

Years of Service 8

David Crewe (44)

Fresh Foods – Hypers 

Years of Service 20

Dharmalingum Dass (50) 

General Merchandise 

Years of Service 30
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Divisional Directors continued

Louis de Beer (51)

Bakeries

Years of Service 29

Leon de Lange (41)

Clothing Store Operations 

Years of Service 20

Helen de Light (52)

Industrial Relations 

Years of Service 21

Ivan Diepraam (54)

Franchise – Merchandise

Years of Service 27

Stuart Duffi eld (50)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 30

Brian Gregson (48)

Operations – Gauteng

Years of Service 20

Malcolm Green (47)

Supply Chain

Years of Service 1 

Steven Hoban (39)

International Procurement

Appointed 1 May 2008

Cindy Jenks (38) 

Corporate Brands

Years of Service 17

George Jones (60)

Employee Benefi ts

Years of Service 20

Kobus Kuyler (49)

Safety & Security

Years of Service 5

Gary Lea (42)

Group Finance

Company Secretary

Years of Service 11

Pearly Ling (43)

National Operations 

Years of Service 11

John Lucas (54)

Receiving Co-ordinator – Hypers

Years of Service 29

Warren Lupke (35)

National Produce

Years of Service 15

Warren Marsden (53)

E-Commerce

Years of Service 30

Rodney Mundell (51)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 26

Ray Murray (59)

Corporate

Years of Service 33

Malcolm Mycroft (51)

Marketing

Years of Service 30

Simone Parry (40)

Health & Beauty

Years of Service 2

Kader Patel (47)

Hypermarkets – Foods

Years of Service 25

Hennie Roets (38)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 18

Cedric Ross (47)

Hypermarkets – Foods

Years of Service 25

Dave Rappoport (57)

Hypermarkets 

– General Merchandise

Years of Service 37

Andre Siebrits (51)

Pick n Pay Go Banking

Years of Service 30

Anton Smith (41)

Franchise

Years of Service 11

David Smith (53)

Supermarkets – National Foods

Years of Service 33

Rob Speedy (38)

Business Systems

Years of Service 16

Andrew Sutherland (37)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 16

Dalene van Aswegen (57)

Property

Years of Service 27

Lyndsay Webster-Rozon (37)

Marketing/Strategy

Years of Service 8

Leon Wilkisky (61)

Systems – Store Automation

Years of Service 36

Retired 1 April 2008

Kevin Wynne (49)

Human Resources

Years of Service 27

Buyers

Grant Barkhuizen (50)

Senior Buyer – Eastern Cape

Years of Service 26

Roy Campbell (52)

General Merchandise

Years of Service 31
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Neil Cooke (50)

Corporate Brands

Years of Service 28

Llywellyn Dyer (44)

Corporate Brands

Years of Service 22

Shane Green (41)

Senior Buyer – Western Cape 

Years of Service 25

Geoff Kahn (59)

Hypermarkets

Years of Service 38

Des Moodley (53)

Senior Buyer – KwaZulu-Natal 

Years of Service 33

Alan van den Berg (41)

Senior Buyer – Gauteng 

Years of Service 21

Naas van Poucke (50)

Western Cape – Distribution

Years of Service 25

Administration

Julian Adriaans (46)

Information Services

Years of Service 8

David Braun (55)

Corporate Assignments 

Years of Service 30

Liza de Freitas (35)

Northern Region – Chief Accountant

Years of Service 12

Graeme Gathmann (37)

Hypermarkets – Chief Accountant

Years of Service 12

Cindy Hoffmann (48)

Human Resources – Gauteng

Years of Service 19

Mike Horney (40)

Human Resources – Hypermarkets

Years of Service 5

Christine Janse van Rensburg (49)

National Human Resources 

Years of Service 19

Loretta Kelly (53)

Corporate Accountant

Years of Service 37

Henry Lefevre (60)

Group Audit Services 

Years of Service 36

Retired 1 April 2008

Karyn Leibbrandt (48)

KwaZulu-Natal – Chief Accountant

Years of Service 23

Vaughn Linden (48)

Franchise

Years of Service 16

Jacque Lombard (38)

Western Cape – Franchise

Years of Service 14

Jonathan MacMillan (38)

Western Cape – Chief Accountant

Years of Service 16

Morag Magnussen (58)

Employee Benefi ts

Years of Service 13

Beverley Marks (51)

SAP

Years of Service 20

Chris Mawhinney (34)

Gauteng – Franchise 

Years of Service 8 

Yacoob Mola (53)

Human Resources

Years of Service 19

Petrus Steyn (38)

Gauteng – Chief Accountant

Years of Service 13

Brian Strydom (53)

Eastern Cape – Chief Accountant 

Years of Service 24

Mohammed Vally (54)

FDC – Chief Accountant 

Years of Service 35

Vaughan Veale (54)

Franchise

Years of Service 26

SCORE SUPERMARKETS

General Managers

Gerhard Booyse (47)

Operations 

Years of Service 26

Ralene Livingstone (39)

Finance

Years of Service 6

David Ramsden (48)

Merchandise 

Years of Service 26

Anderson Tshaya (58)

Human Resources 

Years of Service 18
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BLUE RIBBON MEAT

Operational Directors

Ian Crook (50)

General Manager

Years of Service 26

Tracey Wellington (41)

Finance

Years of Service 15

General Managers

Peter Elliot (53)

Gauteng

Years of Service 32

Zoran Endekovski (42)

Gauteng

Years of Service 13

Donavan Hayes (45)

Western Cape

Years of Service 25

Josiah Mokgoloboto (49)

Gauteng

Years of Service 29

Mandy van Zyl (35)

Eastern Cape 

Years of Service 17

BOXER SUPERSTORES

Directors

Pat Goss (59)

Non-executive

Years of Service 19

Hugh Bland (53)

Managing Director 

Years of Service 20

Resigned 1 March 2008

Eugene Stoop (53)

Managing Director 

Years of Service 16

Appointed 1 March 2008

Rod Bell (55)

Operations

Years of Service 25

Iain Bromage (36)

Merchandise

Years of Service 3 

Marek Masojada (42)

Finance

Years of Service 14

Ian Bamber (40)

Human Resources

Years of Service 12

FRANKLINS AUSTRALIA

General Managers

Graham Gardener (52)

Property

Years of Service 6

Johan Grobler (42)

Finance 

Years of Service 17

Bill Morgan (63)

Franchise

Years of Service 9

Stan Srage (43)

Merchandise

Years of Service 18

TM SUPERMARKETS

Executive Directors

Mike Oakley (59)

Managing Director

Years of Service 38 

Graham Jacobs (63)

Finance

Years of Service 22
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Pick n Pay Stores Limited and its subsidiaries

Notice to Annual General Meeting

The 40th annual general meeting (“AGM”) of 

shareholders of Pick n Pay Stores Limited (“the 

Company”) for the year ended 29 February 2008 will 

be held at 09h00 on Wednesday, 11 June 2008. To 

ensure that registration procedures are completed by 

09h00, please register for the AGM from 08h30.

The venue will be the conference centre at the 

registered offi ce, Pick n Pay Offi ce Park, 101 Rosmead 

Avenue, Kenilworth, Cape Town, 7708.

The following business will be transacted and 

resolutions proposed, with or without amendment:

1. Ordinary resolution number 1

Approval of annual fi nancial statements

“Resolved that the annual fi nancial statements of the 

Company and its subsidiaries, for the year ended 

29 February 2008, are hereby adopted.”

2. Ordinary resolution number 2

Appointment of auditors

“Resolved that KPMG Inc. are hereby reappointed as the 

auditors of the Company for the ensuing year.”

Please note that the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 

have recommended the reappointment of KPMG Inc. as 

auditors of the Company.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3

Reappointment of directors

Wendy Ackerman, Gareth Mark Ackerman, Hugh Sidney 

Herman and Connie Nkosi retire in accordance with the 

Company’s articles of association and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-election. Curricula vitae of those directors 

standing for re-election are presented on pages 10 to 12.

Accordingly, to consider and, if deemed fi t, to re-elect those 

directors by way of passing the separate ordinary 

resolutions set out below:

Ordinary resolution number 3.1

Appointment of Wendy Ackerman as director

“Resolved that Wendy Ackerman be and is hereby elected 

as a director of the Company.”

Ordinary resolution number 3.2

Appointment of Gareth Mark Ackerman as director

“Resolved that Gareth Mark Ackerman be and is hereby 

elected as a director of the Company.”

Ordinary resolution number 3.3

Appointment of Hugh Sidney Herman as director

“Resolved that Hugh Sidney Herman be and is hereby 

elected as a director of the Company.”

Ordinary resolution number 3.4

Appointment of Constance Nkosi as director

“Resolved that Constance Nkosi be and is hereby elected as  

a director of the Company.”

4. Ordinary resolution number 4

Directors’ fees for the year ended 29 February 2008 

and housing loans

“Resolved that the directors’ fees paid and housing loans 

granted to the Company’s directors for the year ended 

29 February 2008, as set out in the fi nancial statements 

accompanying this notice of annual general meeting, are 

hereby approved and ratifi ed insofar as may be necessary.”

5. Ordinary resolution number 5

Directors’ fees for the year ending 28 February 2009

“Resolved that the directors’ fees for the year ending 

28 February 2009 be as follows:

  Executive directors, unchanged at R1 500.

  Non-executive directors, unchanged at R240 000.

  Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance

committee, unchanged at R200 000.

  Chairman of the Remuneration committee, unchanged 

at R100 000.

  Member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance committee, 

unchanged at R80 000.

  Member of the Remuneration and Nominations 

committees, unchanged at R50 000.”

6. Special resolution number 1

General approval to repurchase Company shares

“Resolved that the Company hereby approves, as a general 

approval contemplated in sections 85 and 89 of the 

Companies Act 61 of 1973 (as amended) (“the Companies 



Pick n Pay Annual Report 2008 117

Act”), the acquisition by the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries from time to time of the issued shares of the 

Company or its holding company, upon such terms and 

conditions and in such amounts as the directors of the 

Company may from time to time determine, but subject to 

the articles of association of the Company, the provisions of 

the Companies Act and the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings 

Requirements (“JSE Listings Requirements”) as presently 

constituted and which may be amended from time to time, 

and provided that acquisitions by the Company and its 

subsidiaries, of shares in the capital of the Company or its 

holding company may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any 

one fi nancial year 5% (fi ve percent) of the Company’s 

issued share capital of the class of repurchased shares from 

the date of the grant of this general approval. 

Additional information required by the JSE Listings 

Requirements

It is recorded that the Company may only make a general 

acquisition of shares if the following JSE Listings 

Requirements are met:

a.  any such acquisition of shares shall be effected through 

the order book operated by the JSE trading system and 

done without any prior understanding or arrangement 

between the Company and the counterparty or other 

manner approved by the JSE;

b.  the general approval shall only be valid until the 

Company’s next annual general meeting, provided that it 

shall not extend beyond 15 (fi fteen) months from the 

date of passing of this special resolution;

c.  a paid press announcement will be published as soon as 

the Company and/or its subsidiaries has/have acquired 

shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three 

percent) of the number of shares of the class of shares 

acquired in issue at the time of granting of this general 

approval and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate 

of the initial number of that class of shares acquired 

thereafter, which announcement shall contain full details 

of such acquisitions;

d.  in determining the price at which the Company’s shares 

are acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries in terms 

of this general approval, the maximum price at which 

such shares may be acquired may not be greater than 

10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the 

market value at which such shares are traded on the JSE, 

as determined over the fi ve (fi ve) business days 

immediately preceding the date of the acquisition of 

such shares by the Company or its subsidiaries; and

e.  in the case of a derivative (as contemplated in the JSE 

Listings Requirements), the price of the derivative shall 

be subject to the limitations set out in section 5.84(a) of 

the JSE Listings Requirements.”

Statement by the Board of directors of the Company

Pursuant to, and in terms of, the JSE Listings Requirements 

the Board of directors of the Company hereby state that:

a.  the intention of the directors of the Company is to utilise 

the general approval to repurchase shares in the capital 

of the Company if at some future date the cash 

resources of the Company are in excess of its 

requirements or there are other good grounds for doing 

so. In this regard the directors will take account of, inter 

alia, an appropriate capitalisation structure for the 

Company, the long-term cash needs of the Company 

and the interests of the Company;

b.  in determining the method by which the Company 

intends to repurchase its securities, the maximum 

number of securities to be repurchased and the date on 

which such repurchase will take place, the directors of 

the Company will only make repurchases if at the time 

of the repurchase they are of the opinion that:

 b.1  the Company and its subsidiaries will, after the 

repurchase, be able to pay their debts as they 

become due in the ordinary course of business for 

the 12 (twelve) month period following the date of 

this notice of the annual general meeting;

 b.2  the consolidated assets of the Company and its 

subsidiaries, fairly valued and recognised and 

measured in accordance with the accounting 

policies used in the latest audited fi nancial 

statements, will, after the repurchase, be in excess 

of the consolidated liabilities of the Company and 

its subsidiaries for the 12 (twelve) month period 

following the date of this notice of the annual 

general meeting;

 b.3  the issued share capital and reserves of the 

Company and its subsidiaries will, after the 

repurchase, be adequate for the ordinary business 

purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries for 

the 12 (twelve) month period following the date of 

this notice of the annual general meeting; and

 b.4  the working capital available to the Company and 

its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be 

adequate for the ordinary business requirements of 

the Company and its subsidiaries for the 12 (twelve) 

month period following the date of this notice of 

the annual general meeting.

Pick n Pay Stores Limited and its subsidiaries
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Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1

The reason for special resolution number 1 is to grant the 

Company a general authority in terms of the Companies 

Act for the acquisition by the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries of shares issued by the Company or its holding 

company, which authority shall be valid until the earlier of 

the next annual general meeting of the Company or the 

variation or revocation of such general authority by special 

resolution by any subsequent general meeting of the 

Company, provided that the general authority shall not 

extend beyond 15 (fi fteen) months from the date of this 

annual general meeting. The passing and registration of this 

special resolution will have the effect of authorising the 

Company or any of its subsidiaries to acquire shares issued 

by the Company or its holding company.

7. Ordinary resolution number 6

General authority over unissued shares

“Resolved that 25.3 million (5% of issued share capital) of 

the unissued authorised ordinary shares in the Company 

(which for the purposes of the JSE Listings Requirements 

and these resolutions shall include treasury shares) and, in 

addition, the 67.4 million unissued authorised ordinary 

shares specifi cally approved for issue in terms of the 

Company’s share incentive schemes, be and are hereby 

placed under the control of the directors until the next 

annual general meeting, subject to the provisions of the 

Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements and the 

condition that no issue of these shares will be made if it 

could have the effect of changing control of the Company.”

Except for the shares previously allocated to the Company’s 

share incentive schemes, no issue of these shares is 

contemplated at the present time and no issue will be made 

that could effectively change the control of the Company 

without the prior approval of shareholders in a general 

meeting.

8. Ordinary resolution number 7

General authority to issue shares for cash

“Resolved that, subject to not less than 75% (seventy-fi ve 

percent) of the votes cast by those shareholders of the 

Company present in person or represented by proxy to vote 

at this annual general meeting voting in favour of this 

ordinary resolution, the directors of the Company be and 

are hereby authorised by way of a general authority to issue 

(which shall for the purposes of the JSE Listings 

Requirements include the sale of treasury shares) for cash 

(as contemplated in the JSE Listings Requirements) all or any 

of the authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the 

Company, including options, as and when they in their 

discretion deem fi t, subject to the Companies Act, the 

articles of association of the Company and the JSE Listings 

Requirements as presently constituted and which may be 

amended from time to time and, provided that such issues 

for cash may not, in the aggregate, in any 1 (one) fi nancial 

year, exceed 5% (fi ve percent) of the number of shares of 

the relevant class of shares issued prior to such issue. 

Additional information required by the JSE Listings 

Requirements

It is recorded that the Company may only make an issue of 

shares (as defi ned in the JSE Listings Requirements) for cash 

under the above general authority if the following JSE 

Listings Requirements are met:

a.  the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash 

must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not 

the case, must be limited to such equity securities or 

rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

b.  the general authority shall only be valid until the 

Company’s next annual general meeting provided that it 

shall not extend beyond 15 (fi fteen) months from the 

date of passing of this ordinary resolution;

c.  a paid press announcement will be published giving full 

details, including the number of shares issued, the 

average discount to the weighted average traded price 

of the shares over the 30 days prior to the date that the 

price of the issue was determined or agreed by the 

directors of the Company and the expected effect on the 

net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per 

share and earnings per share and headline earnings per 

share at the time of any issue representing, on a 

cumulative basis within 1 (one) fi nancial year, 5% (fi ve 

percent) of the number of shares in issue prior to the 

issue;

d.  that issues in the aggregate in any 1 (one) fi nancial year 

may not exceed 15% (fi fteen percent) of the number of 

the shares of the Company in issue of that class of 

shares before such issue, taking into account the dilution 

effect of convertible equity securities and options in 

accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements;

e.  in determining the price at which an issue of shares may 

be made in terms of this general authority, the maximum 

discount permitted will be 10% (ten percent) of the 

weighted average traded price on the JSE of those 

shares measured over the 30 (thirty) business days prior 
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to the date that the price of the issue is determined or 

agreed by the directors of the Company; and

f.  any issue will only be made to “public shareholders” as 

defi ned by the JSE Listings Requirements and not to 

related parties.”

9. Ordinary resolution number 8

Amendments to the 1997 Share Option Scheme

“Resolved that:

(i)  the terms of the Pick n Pay 1997 Share Option Scheme 

Agreement (the “Scheme Agreement”), to which the 

Company is a party, be and it is amended upon the 

terms set out on pages 125 and 126 of this notice of 

annual general meeting, the terms of which 

amendments have been tabled at this meeting and 

initialled by the Chairman for purposes of identifi cation; 

and

(ii)  any director of the Company and/or the Company 

Secretary of the Company from time to time be and is 

hereby authorised to sign all such documents and do all 

such things as may be necessary to give effect to the 

aforegoing from time to time.”

10. Ordinary resolution number 9

Directors’ authority to implement Company 

resolutions

“Resolved that each and every director of the Company be 

and is hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all 

such documents as may be necessary for or incidental to the 

implementation of the resolutions passed at this meeting.”

11.  To transact such other business that may be 

transacted at an annual general meeting

General instructions and information

The annual report to which this notice of this annual 

general meeting is attached provides details of:

  the directors and managers of the Company on pages 

10 to 12 and 110 to 115;

  the major shareholders of the Company on page 39;

  the directors’ shareholding in the Company on page 64; 

and

  the share capital of the Company in note 17 on page 75 

and an analysis of the shareholders on page 39.

There are no material changes to the Group’s fi nancial or 

trading position, nor are there any material, legal or 

arbitration proceedings (pending or threatened) that may 

affect the fi nancial position of the Group between 

29 February 2008 and the reporting date.

The directors, whose names are given on pages 10 to 12 of 

the annual report, collectively and individually accept full 

responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and 

certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there 

are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 

statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable 

enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 

the annual report and this notice contains all information 

required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

All shareholders are encouraged to attend, speak and vote 

at the annual general meeting.

If you hold certifi cated shares (i.e. have not dematerialised 

your shares in the Company) or are registered as an own 

name dematerialised shareholder (i.e. have specifi cally 

instructed your Central Securities Depository Participant 

(“CSDP”) to hold your shares in your own name in the 

Company subregister) then:

  you may attend and vote at the annual general meeting; 

alternatively

  you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the annual 

general meeting by completing the attached form of 

proxy and returning it to the registered offi ce of the 

Company or to the transfer secretaries, Computershare 

Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, the details of 

which are set out on page 40 of the annual report, by 

no later than 09h00 on Tuesday, 10 June 2008, being 

24 hours prior to the time appointed for the holding of 

the annual general meeting.

Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised 

shares (i.e. have replaced the paper share certifi cates 

representing the shares with electronic records of ownership 

under the JSE’s electronic settlement system, Share 

Transactions Totally Electronic (“STRATE”)) held through a 

CSDP or broker (or their nominee) and are not registered as 

an “own name dematerialised shareholder” then you are 

not a registered shareholder of the Company, your CSDP 

or broker (or their nominee) would be. 

Accordingly, in these circumstances, subject to the mandate 

between yourself and your CSDP or broker as the case 

may be:

  if you wish to attend the annual general meeting you 

must contact your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, 

and obtain the relevant letter of representation from it; 

alternatively

  if you are unable to attend the annual general meeting 

but wish to be represented at the meeting, you must 
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contact your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, and 

furnish it with your voting instructions in respect of the 

annual general meeting and/or request it to appoint a 

proxy. You must not complete the attached form of 

proxy. The instructions must be provided in accordance 

with the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or 

broker, as the case may be, within the time period 

required by your CSDP or broker, as the case may be.

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, 

recorded in the Company’s subregister as holders of 

dematerialised shares held on behalf of an investor/

benefi cial owner in terms of STRATE should, when 

authorised in terms of their mandate or instructed to do so 

by the owner on behalf of whom they hold dematerialised 

shares in the Company, vote by either appointing a duly 

authorised representative to attend and vote at the annual 

general meeting or by completing the attached form of 

proxy in accordance with the instructions thereon and 

returning it to the registered offi ce of the Company or to 

the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 

(Proprietary) Limited, the details of which are set out on 

page 40 of the annual report, by no later than 09h00 on 

Tuesday, 10 June 2008, being 24 hours prior to the time 

appointed for the holding of the annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

G F Lea

Company Secretary

Cape Town

5 May 2008
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The 27th annual general meeting (“AGM”) of 

shareholders of Pick n Pay Holdings Limited (“the 

Company”) for the year ended 29 February 2008 will 

be held at 09h30, or as soon as the annual general 

meeting for Pick n Pay Stores Limited is completed, on 

Wednesday, 11 June 2007. Registration for attendance 

at the AGM will commence at 08h30. 

The venue will be the conference centre at the 

registered offi ce, Pick n Pay Offi ce Park, 101 Rosmead 

Avenue, Kenilworth, Cape Town, 7708. 

The following business will be transacted and 

resolutions proposed, with or without amendment: 

1. Ordinary resolution number 1 

Approval of annual fi nancial statements

“Resolved that the annual fi nancial statements of the 

Company and its subsidiaries, for the year ended 

29 February 2008, are hereby adopted.” 

2. Ordinary resolution number 2 

Appointment of auditors

“Resolved that KPMG Inc. are hereby reappointed as the 

auditors of the Company for the ensuing year.” 

3. Ordinary resolution number 3 

Reappointment of directors

Wendy Ackerman and René Pieter de Wet retire in 

accordance with the Company’s articles of association, and, 

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Curricula 

vitae of those directors standing for re-election are 

presented on pages 10 and 11.

Accordingly, to consider and, if deemed fi t, to re-elect those 

directors by way of passing the separate ordinary 

resolutions set out below:

Ordinary resolution number 3.1 

Appointment of Wendy Ackerman as director 

“Resolved that Wendy Ackerman be and is hereby elected 

as a director of the Company.” 

Ordinary resolution number 3.2 

Appointment of René Pieter de Wet as director 

“Resolved that René Pieter de Wet be and is hereby elected 

as a director of the Company.” 

4. Special resolution number 1 

General approval to repurchase Company shares 

“Resolved that the Company hereby approves, as a general 

approval contemplated in sections 85 and 89 of the 

Companies Act 61 of 1973 (as amended) (“Companies 

Act”), the acquisition by the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries from time to time of the issued shares of the 

Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such 

amounts as the directors of the Company may from time to 

time determine, but subject to the articles of association of 

the Company, the provisions of the Companies Act and the 

JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings Requirements (“JSE Listings 

Requirements”) as presently constituted and which may be 

amended from time to time, and provided that acquisitions 

by the Company and its subsidiaries of shares in the capital 

of the Company may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any 

one fi nancial year 5% (fi ve percent) of the Company’s 

issued share capital of the class of shares acquired from the 

date of the grant of this general approval. 

Additional information required by the JSE Listings 

Requirements 

It is recorded that the Company may only make a general 

acquisition of shares if the following JSE Listings 

Requirements are met: 

a.  any such acquisition of shares shall be effected through 

the order book operated by the JSE trading system and 

done without any prior understanding or arrangement 

between the Company and the counterparty or other 

manner approved by the JSE; 

b.  the general approval shall only be valid until the 

Company’s next annual general meeting, provided that 

it shall not extend beyond 15 (fi fteen) months from the 

date of passing of this special resolution;

c.  a paid press announcement will be published as soon as 

the Company and/or its subsidiaries has/have acquired 

shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three 

percent) of the number of shares of the class of shares 

acquired in issue at the time of granting of this general 

approval and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate 

of the initial number of that class of shares acquired 

thereafter, which announcement(s) shall contain full 

details of such acquisitions; 

d.  in determining the price at which the Company’s shares 

are acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries in terms 

of this general approval, the maximum price at which 

such shares may be acquired may not be greater than 

10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the 
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market value at which such shares are traded on the 

JSE, as determined over the 5 (fi ve) business days 

immediately preceding the date of acquisition of such 

shares by the Company or its subsidiaries; and 

e.  in the case of a derivative (as contemplated in the JSE 

Listings Requirements), the price of the derivative shall 

be subject to the limitations set out in section 5.84(a) of 

the JSE Listings Requirements.” 

Statement by the Board of directors of the Company 

Pursuant to, and in terms of, the JSE Listings Requirements, 

the Board of directors of the Company hereby state that: 

a.  the intention of the directors of the Company is to 

utilise the general authority to acquire shares in the 

capital of the Company if at some future date the cash 

resources of the Company are in excess of its 

requirements or there are other good grounds for doing 

so. In this regard the directors will take account of, inter 

alia, an appropriate capitalisation structure for the 

Company, the long-term cash needs of the Company 

and the interests of the Company;

b.  in determining the method by which the Company 

intends to repurchase its securities, the maximum 

number of securities to be repurchased and the date on 

which such repurchase will take place, the directors of 

the Company will only make repurchases if at the time 

of the repurchase they are of the opinion that:

 b.1  the Company and its subsidiaries will, after the 

repurchase, be able to pay their debts as they 

become due in the ordinary course of business for 

the 12 (twelve) month period following the date 

of this notice of the annual general meeting; 

 b.2  the consolidated assets of the Company and its 

subsidiaries, fairly valued and recognised and 

measured in accordance with the accounting 

policies used in the latest audited fi nancial 

statements, will, after the repurchase, be in excess 

of the consolidated liabilities of the Company and 

its subsidiaries for the 12 (twelve) month period 

following the date of this notice of the annual 

general meeting; 

 b.3  the issued share capital and reserves of the 

Company and its subsidiaries will, after the 

repurchase, be adequate for the ordinary business 

purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries for 

the 12 (twelve) month period following the date 

of this notice of the annual general meeting; and 

 b.4  the working capital available to the Company and 

its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be 

adequate for the ordinary business requirements 

of the Company and its subsidiaries for the 12 

(twelve) month period following the date of this 

notice of the annual general meeting.

Reason and effect of special resolution number 1 

The reason for special resolution number 1 is to grant the 

Company a general authority in terms of the Companies 

Act for the acquisition by the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries of shares issued by the Company, which 

authority shall be valid until the earlier of the next annual 

general meeting of the Company or the variation or 

revocation of such general authority by special resolution by 

any subsequent general meeting of the Company, provided 

that the general authority shall not extend beyond 15 

(fi fteen) months from the date of this annual general 

meeting. The passing and registration of this special 

resolution will have the effect of authorising the Company 

and/or any of its subsidiaries to acquire shares issued by 

the Company. 

5. Ordinary resolution number 4 

General authority over unissued shares 

“Resolved that 26.4 million (5% of issued share capital) of 

the unissued authorised ordinary shares in the Company 

(which for the purposes of the JSE Listings Requirements 

and these resolutions shall include treasury shares) and, in 

addition, the 92.3 million unissued authorised ordinary 

shares specifi cally approved for issue in terms of the 

Company’s share incentive schemes, be and are hereby 

placed under the control of the directors until the next 

annual general meeting, subject to the provisions of the 

Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements and the 

condition that no issue of these shares will be made if it 

could have the effect of changing control of the Company.” 

Except for the shares previously allocated to the Company’s 

share incentive schemes, no issue of these shares is 

contemplated at the present time and no issue will be made 

that could effectively change the control of the Company 

without the prior approval of shareholders in a general 

meeting. 
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6. Ordinary resolution number 5 

General authority to issue shares or other equities 

for cash 

“Resolved that, subject to not less than 75% (seventy-fi ve 

percent) of the votes cast by those shareholders of the 

Company present in person or represented by proxy to vote 

at this annual general meeting voting in favour of this 

ordinary resolution, the directors of the Company be and 

are hereby authorised by way of a general authority to issue 

(which shall for the purpose of the JSE Listings 

Requirements include the sale of treasury shares) for cash 

(as contemplated in the JSE Listings Requirements) all or any 

of the authorised but unissued shares in the capital of the 

Company, including options and convertible securities, as 

and when they in their discretion deem fi t, subject to the 

Companies Act, the articles of association of the Company 

and the JSE Listings Requirements as presently constituted 

and which may be amended from time to time, and 

provided that such issues for cash may not, in the 

aggregate, in any 1 (one) fi nancial year, exceed 5% (fi ve 

percent) of the number of the shares of the relevant class of 

shares issued prior to such issue. 

Additional information required by the JSE Listings 

Requirements 

It is recorded that the Company may only make an issue of 

shares for cash if the following JSE Listings Requirements 

are met: 

a.  the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash 

must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not 

the case, must be limited to such shares or rights that 

are convertible into a class already in issue; 

b.  the general authority shall only be valid until the 

Company’s next annual general meeting provided that it 

shall not extend beyond 15 (fi fteen) months from the 

date of passing of this ordinary resolution; 

c.  a paid press announcement will be published giving full 

details, including the number of shares issued, the 

average discount to the weighted average traded price 

of the shares over the 30 days prior to the date that the 

price of the issue was determined or agreed by the 

directors of the Company and the expected effect on 

the net asset value per share, net tangible asset value 

per share, earnings per share and headline earnings per 

share, at the time of any issue representing, on a 

cumulative basis within 1 (one) fi nancial year, 5% (fi ve 

percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior 

to the issue in accordance with the JSE Listings 

Requirements; 

d.  that issues in the aggregate in any 1 (one) fi nancial year 

may not exceed 15% (fi fteen percent) of the number of 

the shares of the Company in issue of that class of 

equity securities before such issue, taking into account 

the dilution effect of convertible equity securities and 

options in accordance with the JSE Listings 

Requirements; 

e.  in determining the price at which an issue of shares 

may be made in terms of this general authority, the 

maximum discount permitted will be 10% (ten percent) 

of the weighted average traded price on the JSE of 

those shares measured over the 30 (thirty) business days 

prior to the date that the price of the issue is 

determined or agreed by the directors of the Company; 

and 

f.  any issue will only be made to “public shareholders” as 

defi ned by the JSE Listings Requirements and not to 

related parties.” 

7. Ordinary resolution number 6

Amendments to the 1997 Share Option Scheme

“Resolved that:

(i)  the terms of the Pick n Pay 1997 Share Option Scheme 

Agreement (the “Scheme Agreement”), to which the 

Company is a party, be and it is amended upon the 

terms set out on pages 125 and 126 of this notice of 

annual general meeting, the terms of which amendments 

have been tabled at this meeting and initialled by the 

Chairman for purposes of identifi cation; and 

(ii)  that any director of the Company and/or the Company 

Secretary of the Company from time to time be and is 

hereby authorised to sign all such documents and do all 

such things as may be necessary to give effect to the 

aforegoing from time to time.”

8. Ordinary resolution number 7 

Directors’ authority to implement Company 

resolutions 

“Resolved that each and every director of the Company be 

and is hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all 

such documents as may be necessary for or incidental to 

the implementation of the resolutions passed at this 

meeting.” 
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9.  To transact such other business that may be 

transacted at an annual general meeting 

General instructions and information 

The annual report to which this notice of this annual 

general meeting is attached provides details of: 

   the directors and managers of the Company on page 13;

  the major shareholders of the Company on page 39; 

   the directors’ shareholding in the Company on 

page 103; and

   the share capital of the Company in note 6 on page 

106, and an analysis of the shareholders on page 39. 

There are no material changes to the Group’s fi nancial or 

trading position, nor are there any material, legal or 

arbitration proceedings (pending or threatened) that may 

affect the fi nancial position of the Group between 

29 February 2008 and the reporting date. 

The directors, whose names are given on page 13 of the 

annual report, collectively and individually accept full 

responsibility for the accuracy of the information given and 

certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there 

are no facts that have been omitted which would make any 

statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable 

enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that 

the annual report and this notice contains all information 

required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

All shareholders are encouraged to attend, speak and vote 

at the annual general meeting. 

If you hold certifi cated shares (i.e. have not dematerialised 

your shares in the Company) or are registered as an own 

name dematerialised shareholder (i.e. have specifi cally 

instructed your Central Securities Depository Participant 

(“CSDP”) to hold your shares in your own name on the 

Company’s subregister) then: 

   you may attend and vote at the annual general 

meeting; alternatively 

   you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the annual 

general meeting by completing the attached form of 

proxy and returning it to the registered offi ce of the 

Company or to the transfer secretaries, Computershare 

Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, the details of 

which are set out on page 40 of the annual report, by 

no later than 09h30 on Monday, 9 June 2008, being 

48 hours prior to the time appointed for the holding of 

the annual general meeting. 

Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised 

shares (i.e. have replaced the paper share certifi cates 

representing the shares with electronic records of ownership 

under the JSE’s electronic settlement system, Share 

Transactions Totally Electronic (“STRATE”)) held through a 

CSDP or broker and are not registered as an “own name 

dematerialised shareholder”, then you are not a registered 

shareholder of the Company, your CSDP or broker (or their 

nominee) would be. Accordingly, in these circumstances, 

subject to the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or 

broker (or their nominee), as the case may be: 

   if you wish to attend the annual general meeting you 

must contact your CSDP or broker (or their nominee), as 

the case may be, and obtain the relevant letter of 

representation from it; alternatively 

   if you are unable to attend the annual general meeting 

but wish to be represented at the meeting, you must 

contact your CSDP or broker (or their nominee), as the 

case may be, and furnish it with your voting instructions 

in respect of the annual general meeting and/or request 

it to appoint a proxy. You should not complete the 

attached form of proxy. The instructions must be 

provided in accordance with the mandate between 

yourself and your CSDP or broker, as the case may be, 

within the time period required by your CSDP or broker, 

as the case may be. 

CSDPs, brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, 

recorded in the Company’s subregister as holders of 

dematerialised shares held on behalf of an investor/

benefi cial owner in terms of STRATE should, when 

authorised in terms of their mandate or instructed to do so 

by the owner on behalf of whom they hold dematerialised 

shares in the Company, vote by either appointing a duly 

authorised representative to attend and vote at the annual 

general meeting or by completing the attached form of 

proxy in accordance with the instructions thereon and 

returning it to the registered offi ce of the Company or to 

the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 

(Proprietary) Limited, the details of which are set out on 

page 40 of the annual report, by no later than 09h30 on 

Monday, 9 June 2008, being 48 hours prior to the time 

appointed for the holding of the annual general meeting. 

By order of the Board 

G F Lea 

Company Secretary

Cape Town

5 May 2008
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Share Option Scheme Amendments

Amendments to the Pick n Pay 1997 Share Option 

Scheme Agreement:

The Pick n Pay 1997 Share Option Scheme Agreement was 

entered into on 22 September 1997, and amended on 

9 May 2003, 11 November 2003 and 10 June 2005 (the 

“Scheme Agreement”).

It is proposed that further amendments are made to the 

Scheme Agreement, as set out below.

1.  A defi nition of “Employer Company” is inserted into 

the Scheme Agreement, to refer to members of the 

Pick n Pay Group which agree to be bound by the terms 

of the Scheme Agreement and sign it as a party to the 

agreement, from time to time.

2.  A new clause, (clause 7A), is inserted into the Scheme 

Agreement, after the existing clause 7 of the Scheme 

Agreement. This new clause 7A will provide for the net 

settlement of options granted in terms of the Scheme 

Agreement. This means that, at the time of the exercise 

of an option, the employee, will receive only so many 

shares (at current value) as represents the gain in value 

of the option.

  A participant who exercises options in terms of the net 

settlement provisions (clause 7A) will not be required to 

pay for the shares acquired on exercise of the option.

  For example, if a participant holds options over 100 (one 

hundred) shares for a grant price of R20 (twenty rand) each 

and on the date of exercise of the options the market price 

of the shares is R40 (forty rand), that represents a gain of 

R2 000 (two thousand rand). Instead of the participant 

paying the option price of R2 000 (two thousand rand) to 

receive 100 (one hundred) shares the participant will simply 

acquire 50 (fi fty) shares for nil consideration, which equates 

to the value of their gain (R2 000) at the price of the share 

on date of exercise, being R40 (forty rand) per share.

  It is proposed that the net settlement provisions referred 

to above will apply to all options granted after 12 June 

2008. Any fractions of shares to which a participant 

becomes entitled to will be rounded up to the next 

whole share. The Employer Company of the participant 

will be obliged to issue or deliver the shares to the 

participant concerned at its own cost.

3.  Amendments are required to the Scheme Agreement so 

as to accommodate those subsidiaries of the Company 

which will now become Employer Companies for 

purposes of the Scheme Agreement.

4.  The discount at which options will be granted on or 

after 12 June 2008 is reduced from 10% (ten percent) 

to 5% (fi ve percent).

5.  If employees are transferred between group companies, 

then the Group company where the participant is 

employed at the time an option is exercised, is obliged 

to carry out the obligations of an Employer Company 

and bear the costs of this incentivisation themselves.

6.  Options granted on or after 12 June 2008 may only be 

exercised in terms of the new clause 7A of the Scheme 

Agreement so that, in respect of all options granted on 

or after that date, only the “net settlement” provisions 

will apply.

7.  A procedural change is being made so as to require all 

options to be exercised in the form required by the 

Company from time to time. This will facilitate 

recordkeeping and administration.

8.  Any participant who exercises options in terms of the 

new clause 7A of the Scheme Agreement, agrees that 

shares to which the participant becomes entitled as a 

result of exercise of the options may be sold to pay for 

the employee’s tax liability resulting from the scheme.

9.  The implementation of 2 above (“net settlement” 

provisions) necessitates certain consequential 

amendments to the Scheme Agreement.

Reasons for the proposed amendments to this Scheme 

Agreement:

1.  It is proposed that the several employer companies 

who actually employ participants who participate under 

the Scheme Agreement, become parties to the Scheme 

Agreement. This amendment will enable the Group to 

allocate share option costs to the relevant operating 

companies within the Group. The main purpose of the 

Scheme Agreement continues to be the facilitation of 

share ownership by employees, thereby aligning their 

interests with all shareholders. This incentivises 

employees to promote growth in profi ts and 
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Share Option Scheme Amendments continued

simultaneously encourages employee retention. It is 

appropriate that the cost of this incentivisation be 

directly charged to the relevant Employer Company 

within the Group which actually employs the 

participant. This cost will include the cost of the options 

granted to employees (the cost being actuarially valued 

and calculated according to accounting standards). As 

no amount is payable by a participant who “net 

settles”, the Employer Company which employs the 

participant concerned will be required to make any 

payments necessary for the shares to be acquired by the 

participant.

2.  It is proposed that there is “net settlement” for the 

participants who exercise options under the Scheme 

Agreement. This will reduce the dilutionary effect of 

granting options to employees of the Group, as a lesser 

number of shares in the Company will be delivered to 

participants who exercise their options. The number of 

shares to which the participants will become entitled is 

determined according to a formula.

3.  It is proposed that the discount at which options are 

granted is reduced from a discount of 10% (ten 

percent) to a discount of 5% (fi ve percent) to the 

middle market price of the Company shares upon the 

granting of the options. This amendment is proposed so 

as to reduce the cost to the Employer Companies of 

incentivising their employees through share options.

4.  It is also considered prudent that employees who “net 

settle” their options upon exercise, authorise, in terms 

of the scheme, suffi cient shares resulting from that 

exercise to be sold to cover their tax liability so that this 

tax liability is paid to the authorities.

5.  The remaining amendments proposed to the Scheme 

Agreement are consequential upon those amendments 

referred to above.

6.  A copy of the unsigned “Deed of Amendment to the 

Agreement establishing the Pick n Pay “1997 Share 

Option Scheme” is available for inspection at the 

registered offi ce of the Company, care of the Company 

Secretary.
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Pick n Pay Stores Limited and its subsidiaries

For use at the annual general meeting of Pick n Pay Stores Limited (“the Company”) to be held at the registered offi ce of the 
Company, Pick n Pay Offi ce Park, 101 Rosmead Avenue, Kenilworth, Cape Town, in the conference centre at 09h00 on Wednesday, 
11 June 2008 (the “annual general meeting”).

This form of proxy is not to be used by benefi cial owners of shares who have dematerialised their shares (“dematerialised shares”) through 
a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, as the case may be, unless you are recorded on the sub-register as an 
own name dematerialised shareholder. Generally, you will not be an own name dematerialised shareholder unless you have specifi cally 
requested your CSDP to record you as the holder of the shares in your own name in the Company’s subregister.

This form of proxy is only for use by certifi cated, own name dematerialised shareholders and CSDPs or brokers (or their nominees) 
registered in the Company’s subregister as the holder of dematerialised ordinary shares.

Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(none of whom need be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that member at the 
annual general meeting, and at any adjournment thereafter.

Note that voting will be performed by way of a poll so each member present or represented by way of proxy will be 
entitled to vote. 

I/We (block letters)

of

Telephone: Work (        ) Telephone: Home (         )

being the holder/s of ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint (refer to note 1)

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairperson of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend, speak, vote and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting which will be held for the 
purpose of considering and, if deemed fi t, passing, with or without amendment, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 
adjournment thereof and to vote for or against such resolutions or to abstain from voting in respect of the shares in the issued capital 
of the Company registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (refer to note 2). 

Number of votes
(one vote per ordinary share)

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution no. 1: Approval of annual fi nancial statements

Ordinary resolution no. 2: Appointment of the auditors

Ordinary resolution no. 3.1: Election of Mrs W Ackerman as director

Ordinary resolution no. 3.2: Election of Mr G M Ackerman as director

Ordinary resolution no. 3.3: Election of Mr H S Herman as director

Ordinary resolution no. 3.4: Election of Ms C Nkosi as director

Ordinary resolution no. 4: Approval of 2008 directors‘ fees and housing loans

Ordinary resolution no. 5: Approval of 2009 directors‘ fees

Special resolution no. 1: General approval to repurchase Company shares

Ordinary resolution no. 6: General authority over unissued shares

Ordinary resolution no. 7: General authority to issue shares for cash

Ordinary resolution no. 8: Amendments to the 1997 Share Option Scheme

Ordinary resolution no. 9: Directors‘ authority to implement Company resolutions

Insert an “X” in the relevant spaces above according to how you wish your votes to be cast. If you wish to cast your votes in 
respect of a lesser number of shares than you own in the Company, insert the number of shares held in respect of which you 
desire to vote (see note 2). 

Signed at on 2008

Signature

(Authority of signatory to be attached if applicable – see note 4) 

Assisted by me (where applicable – see note 6) Telephone number

Please read the notes overleaf.

Form of Proxy
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Pick n Pay Stores Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes

1.  The person whose name stands fi rst on the proxy form 

and who is present at the annual general meeting will 

be entitled to act as a proxy to the exclusion of those 

whose names follow thereafter.

  If no proxy is inserted in the spaces provided, then the 

Chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the 

proxy to vote or abstain as the Chairperson deems fi t.

2.  A shareholder‘s instructions to the proxy must be 

indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of 

votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 

box provided. If there is no clear indication as to the 

voting instructions to the proxy, the proxy form will be 

deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain 

from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she 

deems fi t in respect of all the shareholder‘s votes 

exercisable thereat.

  A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all 

the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her 

proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of 

which abstention is recorded may not exceed the 

total of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by 

his/her proxy.

3.  Proxy forms must be lodged at the registered offi ce of 

the Company, Pick n Pay Offi ce Park, 101 Rosmead 

Avenue, Kenilworth, Cape Town, 7708, or posted to the 

Company Secretary at PO Box 23087, Claremont, 7735, 

or lodged with or posted to the transfer secretaries, 

Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa).

  Forms of proxy must be received or lodged by no later 

than 09h00 on Tuesday, 10 June 2008, being 24 hours 

before the annual general meeting to be held at 

09h00 on Wednesday, 11 June 2008. 

4.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of 

a person signing this proxy form in a representative 

capacity must be attached to this proxy form unless 

previously recorded by the Company Secretary or 

waived by the Chairperson of the annual general 

meeting. CSDPs or brokers registered in the Company‘s 

subregister voting on instructions from benefi cial 

owners of shares registered in the Company’s sub-

register, are requested that they identify the benefi cial 

owner in the subregister on whose behalf they are 

voting and return a copy of the instruction from such 

owner to the Company Secretary or to the transfer 

secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 

(Proprietary) Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, 

Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 

2107, South Africa), together with this form of proxy.

5.  Any alteration or correction made to this proxy form 

must be initialled by the signatory/ies, but may not be 

accepted by the Chairperson.

6.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian 

unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 

capacity are produced or have been registered by the 

Company Secretary.
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Pick n Pay Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

Form of Proxy

For use at the annual general meeting of Pick n Pay Holdings Limited (“the Company”) to be held at the registered offi ce of the 
Company, Pick n Pay Offi ce Park, 101 Rosmead Avenue, Kenilworth, Cape Town, in the conference centre at 09h30 or as soon 
as the annual general meeting of Pick n Pay Stores Limited is completed, on Wednesday, 11 June 2008 (the “annual general 
meeting”).

This form of proxy is not to be used by benefi cial owners of shares who have dematerialised their shares (“dematerialised shares”) through 
a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, as the case may be, unless you are recorded on the subregister as an 
own name dematerialised shareholder. Generally, you will not be an own name dematerialised shareholder unless you have specifi cally 
requested your CSDP to record you as the holder of the shares in your own name in the Company’s subregister.

This form of proxy is only for use by certifi cated, own name dematerialised shareholders and CSDPs or brokers (or their nominees) 
registered in the Company’s subregister as the holder of dematerialised ordinary shares. 

Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
(none of whom need be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, speak and vote in place of that member at the 
annual general meeting, and at any adjournment thereafter. 

Note that voting will be performed by way of a poll so each member present or represented by way of proxy will be 
entitled to vote.

I/We (block letters)

of

Telephone: Work (        ) Telephone: Home (         )

being the holder/s of ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint (refer to note 1)

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairperson of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend, speak, vote and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting which will be held for the 
purpose of considering and, if deemed fi t, passing, with or without amendment, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 
adjournment thereof and to vote for or against such resolutions or to abstain from voting in respect of the shares in the issued capital 
of the Company registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (refer to note 2). 

Number of votes
(one vote per ordinary share)

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution no. 1: Approval of annual fi nancial statements

Ordinary resolution no. 2: Appointment of the auditors

Ordinary resolution no. 3.1: Election of Mrs W Ackerman as director

Ordinary resolution no. 3.2: Election of Mr R P de Wet as director

Special resolution no. 1: General approval to repurchase Company shares

Ordinary resolution no. 4: General authority over unissued shares

Ordinary resolution no. 5: General authority to issue shares for cash

Ordinary resolution no. 6: Amendments to the 1997 Share Option Scheme

Ordinary resolution no. 7: Directors‘ authority to implement Company resolutions

Insert an “X” in the relevant spaces above according to how you wish your votes to be cast. If you wish to cast your votes in 
respect of a lesser number of shares than you own in the Company, insert the number of shares held in respect of which you 
desire to vote (see note 2).

Signed at on 2008

Signature

(Authority of signatory to be attached if applicable – see note 4) 

Assisted by me (where applicable – see note 6) Telephone number

Please read the notes overleaf.
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Pick n Pay Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

Notes

1.  The person whose name stands fi rst on the proxy form 

and who is present at the annual general meeting will 

be entitled to act as a proxy to the exclusion of those 

whose names follow thereafter. 

  If no proxy is inserted in the spaces provided, then the 

Chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the 

proxy to vote or abstain as the Chairperson deems fi t. 

2.  A shareholder‘s instructions to the proxy must be 

indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of 

votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 

box provided. If there is no clear indication as to the 

voting instructions to the proxy, the proxy form will be 

deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain 

from voting at the annual general meeting as he/

she deems fi t in respect of all the shareholder‘s votes 

exercisable thereat. 

  A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all 

the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her 

proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of 

which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total 

of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her 

proxy. A proxy shall be entitled to demand that voting 

take place on a poll.

3.  Proxy forms must be lodged at the registered offi ce 

of the Company, Pick n Pay Offi ce Park, 101 Rosmead 

Avenue, Kenilworth, Cape Town, 7708, or posted to the 

Company Secretary at PO Box 23087, Claremont, 7735, 

or lodged with or posted to the transfer secretaries, 

Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa). 

  Forms of proxy must be received or lodged by no later 

than 09h30 on Monday, 9 June 2008, being no later 

than 48 hours before the annual general meeting to be 

held at 09h30 on Wednesday, 11 June 2008. 

4.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of 

a person signing this proxy form in a representative 

capacity must be attached to this proxy form unless 

previously recorded by the Company Secretary or 

waived by the Chairperson of the annual general 

meeting. CSDPs or brokers registered in the Company‘s 

subregister voting on instructions from benefi cial owners 

of shares registered in the Company‘s subregister, are 

requested that they identify the benefi cial owner in 

the subregister on whose behalf they are voting and 

return a copy of the instruction from such owner to 

the Company Secretary or to the transfer secretaries, 

Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited, 

Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 

(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa), 

together with this form of proxy.

5.  Any alteration or correction made to this proxy form 

must be initialled by the signatory/ies, but may not be 

accepted by the Chairperson. 

6.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian 

unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 

capacity are produced or have been registered by the 

Company Secretary.
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Please help us reduce our carbon footprint. Although our reports are printed on paper that is chlorine-free and 60% 
sugar cane fi bre, printing and transport still use energy. For every reader who elects to receive our Reports in 
electronic format, R100 will be donated to Food and Trees for Africa who will plant a tree on their behalf.

Pick n Pay Stores Limited and Pick n Pay Holdings Limited

ELECTION TO RECEIVE ANNUAL AND INTERIM REPORTS ELECTRONICALLY

Should you wish to continue receiving your Annual and Interim Reports (“the Reports”) in hard copy format please ignore this 
communication. 

If you would prefer to receive the reports electronically, rather than in hard copy format, please will you complete this form 
either online through our website www.picknpay.co.za or fax this page to Computershare, as set out below.

You may also elect not to receive the aforementioned reports at all, electronic or hard copy.

Please complete this form online at www.picknpay.co.za or fax this page to Computershare 
on +27(0)11 688-5248 or mail it to PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 South Africa

Your personal details

Name of shareholder

Name of broker

Account number

Indicate your preference below by placing an “X” in the appropriate box and countersigning your selection in the column 

adjacent to the option elected:

Option

Indicate intention by placing 

a cross in the appropriate box Signature

Option 1:

I would like to receive the Reports in electronic 

format (i.e. via an email providing an internet link 

to the Reports)

Option 2: 

I would like you to cease providing me with copies 

of the Reports, whether in hard copy or in electronic 

format

In the event that you elect Option 1 above (receipt of the Reports in electronic format), please provide us with the following 

information:

E-mail address:

Telephone numbers: Home: 

Work:

Cell:

Fax number:
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